# CANADIAN CENTRE ON DISABILITY STUDIES

# Final Report of a Study of Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities

Gary Annable Dr. Deborah Stienstra Janalee Morris-Wales Zephania Matanga

January 2002

			6.

# Final Report of a Study of Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities

Gary Annable Dr. Deborah Stienstra Janalee Morris-Wales Zephania Matanga

Canadian Centre on Disability Studies Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada

January 2002

Final Report of a Study of Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities

© 2002 Canadian Centre on Disability Studies ISBN 0-9688595-3-4

Additional copies of this report and the companion handbook *Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities* can be obtained in print and other formats from:

Canadian Centre on Disability Studies 56 The Promenade Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3B 3H9

Telephone: (204) 287-8411

TTY: (204) 475-6223 Fax: (204) 284-5343

E-mail: ccds@disabilitystudies.ca

The research findings and handbook are also available on CCDS's web

site: http://www.disabilitystudies.ca

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

# Overview

This report describes the findings of a Manitoba study that examined the opportunities, challenges and risks that persons with disabilities may experience when they do paid employment at home. The study focused on workers who were paid employees rather than self-employed persons or operators of home-based businesses. It included persons who work at home all the time, as well as workers who split their time between their homes and a traditional workplace. It did not include people whose only work at home was paid or unpaid overtime work done in the evening or on weekends after working a full day or week at their employer's workplace.

The main findings of the study are based on the first hand experiences of 21 people with disabilities who worked at home. They completed a questionnaire and attended a focus group meeting or interview. Eleven also recorded daily diaries about working at home for two weeks. Most of them also attended a workshop where the preliminary findings were presented and discussed.

For background information, the study also reviewed previous research and conducted focus group meetings with disability agencies, employers, unions and supervisors of people with disabilities who work at home.

# **Key Findings**

# Reasons for Working at Home

Most of the study participants worked at home for reasons related to their disabilities, including:

- flexibility to work when they felt most productive and rest when necessary
- because their employers' workplaces were physically inaccessible or lacked assistive technology they required
- better access to attendant care or pain management strategies that were unavailable or difficult to arrange at their employers' workplaces

- to avoid extreme weather conditions that exacerbated pain related to their disabilities or created risks of falling on slippery winter surfaces
- because previous employers had not accommodated them satisfactorily when they disclosed their disabilities and/or requested accommodation

# Additional Benefits of Working at Home

In addition to the reasons they worked at home, the study participants identified a host of additional benefits and advantages of working at home, including:

- freedom from distractions and office politics
- less stressful
- reduced time spent traveling to and from work
- save money on lunches and work clothing
- flexibility to care for sick family members
- flexibility to attend to non-work activities (e.g. going to bank, doctor)
- flexibility to work when disability would make it difficult to go to employer's workplace

In contrast to the reasons they worked at home—which were usually related to disability—many of the additional benefits they reported are similar to those reported by persons without disabilities who work at home.

# Challenges of Working at Home

Although most participants were relatively satisfied working at home, they identified a lengthy list of challenges they had encountered.

# Setting Up the Arrangement

Some participants reported that they experienced resistance from their employers when they requested to do some or all of their work from home. Some were reluctant to ask their employers to provide or pay for equipment or services required to work from home. Some felt that persons with disabilities who are unemployed or receiving income assistance may not have the confidence and self-esteem required to request and negotiate a home-based work arrangement.

# Isolation

Some participants reported that they sometimes experienced feelings of isolation working at home. In general, however, relatively few participants indicated that they experienced major feelings of isolation. More reported that they enjoyed the solitude of working at home. The fact that many of the participants did not work exclusively at home may minimize their risk of isolation.

# Co-workers

Some participants indicated that they felt well-supported by their coworkers, but others reported that some of their co-workers resented their ability to work at home.

## Communication

Participants indicated that they had less access to informal communications than they would have if they worked in the same location as their co-workers. They also said that they were sometimes inadvertently excluded from work-related communications, such as postponement of meetings that they only learned about after traveling to the meeting site.

# Meetings

Most participants reported that they physically attended meetings at their employer's workplace. Others indicated that they participated in meetings by telephone. Interestingly, however, some home-based workers who experienced difficulty traveling to attend meetings had not considered conference calls as a solution.

# Career Development and Advancement

Study participants did not say much about the impact working at home had on their career development and advancement opportunities. Approximately half of the participants worked for small non-profit organizations that often have limited budgets for professional development. Some had only recently started their jobs and hadn't begun to consider career development and advancement opportunities within their organization. More than half of the participants were over 45 years of age,

and some of the older participants indicated that they did not foresee further career advancement opportunities.

# Maintaining Healthy Boundaries

Many of the study participants identified the flexibility to work outside standard hours as a benefit of working at home, but some people who worked flexible hours described significant challenges maintaining the boundaries between their work and family/personal lives. In most cases, persons who discussed this challenge talked about difficulties keeping their work life from intruding on their non-work lives, rather than situations where their family and other non-work responsibilities intruded on their work.

# Technology and Telecommunications

All of the study participants used a telephone to do their work. Most also used computers, faxes, e-mail, and the Internet. Most participants did their work without assistive technology, but some participants used specialized keyboards, voice recognition software, screen reader software and hardware, large monitors, Braillers, scanners and Optical Character Recognition (OCR) software.

Most participants indicated that their employers provided or reimbursed them for work-related supplies and long distance telephone charges, but most employers did not provide computers, printers or fax machines. Most participants paid for their own equipment from their own pockets. Most of the minority of participants who indicated that their employers supplied computer hardware, software or assistive technology worked for large organizations.

Most employers also did not provide separate telephone lines for work-related calls, faxes, and Internet usage. Most participants used their residential phone for work. As a result, some indicated that they sometimes missed personal calls or faced challenges avoiding work-related communications outside of their usual work hours.

# Technical Support

Only a few participants reported that their employers provided technical support for the equipment they used to work at home. These tended to be

persons working for large organizations with Information Technology specialists. Most participants who used computers indicated that they had to solve their own technical problems. A few indicated that they paid external service providers for technical assistance.

# Conclusion

Despite this lengthy list of challenges, most of the participants in this study liked working at home. Some who described significant challenges indicated that they would prefer to continue working at home even if their employers were willing to accommodate them in the workplace.

Nevertheless, home-based work is not a broad solution to the employment problems of persons with disabilities in Canada or anywhere else. Working at home may be an effective way of accommodating disability, but it is not a substitute for accommodations in traditional workplaces. Many people with disabilities—just like many people without disabilities—are not interested in working at home.

Persons with disabilities who want to work at home for reasons unrelated to their disabilities should have the same access to those opportunities as persons without disabilities. Additionally, persons with disabilities should also have additional access to home-based telework if they see working at home as an attractive way of accommodating disabilities.

A companion handbook to this report entitled *Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities* provides practical advice for workers with disabilities who work or want to work at home. It also offers best practices and other suggestions for employers, unions, policymakers, researchers, organizations of persons with disabilities and agencies that provide job search and other employment supports to persons with disabilities.

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This research was made possible by a grant from the Community Initiatives and Research Program of the Workers Compensation Board of Manitoba. Additional research activities were supported by grants from the Public Service Commission of Canada and Human Resources Development Canada.

The initial research concept and proposal were developed by the late Dr. Karen Blackford, the first occupant of the Royal Bank Research Chair at the Canadian Centre on Disability Studies (CCDS). Dr. Blackford passed away before the study began, but her vision and presence has been felt throughout the research.

The research team is indebted to the members of the Advisory Committee who offered their expertise, advice and support throughout the project: Mary Jane Fisher (Manitoba Education and Training), Patrick Fougeyrollas (Quebec Institute of Rehabilitation), Patrick Kellerman, Tara Maniar (Reaching E-Quality Employment Services), Tammy Matheson (Independent Living Resource Centre), Judy Redmond (City of Winnipeg), Dave Scott (Workers Compensation Board of Manitoba) and Lynda White. We also thank the Minister of Labour and Immigration Becky Barrett and her staff for providing important clarification about labour legislation that applies to home-based workers in Manitoba.

Finally, we extend our thanks to everybody who participated in the study, including representatives of disability organizations, service agencies, unions and employers. In particular, however, we are most indebted to the people with disabilities who generously shared their experiences, opinions and ideas about working at home in focus group meetings, interviews, questionnaires and diaries.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Executive Summary	iii
Acknowledgements	viii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. PREVIOUS RESEARCH	2
2.1 The Employment of Persons with Disabilities in Canada	2
2.2 The Growth of Home-Based Work and Telework/Telecommuting	2
2.3 Challenges of Home-Based Work	
2.4 Home-Based Work in Canada	9
2.5 Home-Based Work and Persons with Disabilities	
2.6 Learning Technologies and Home-Based Work	. 21
3. METHODOLOGY	. 25
3.1 Project Overview	
3.2 Definitions	
3.3 Data Collection	26
3.4 Data Analysis	28
3.5 Presentation of the Findings	28
4. FINDINGS	30
4.1 Key Informants: Service Agencies and Consumer Organizations	
4.2 Key Informants: Employers	
4.3 Key Informants: Unions	
4.4 Home-Based Workers	35
4.5 Focus Groups and Interviews	37
4.6 Diaries	59
4.7 Supervisor Focus Group	
5. DISCUSSION	75
5.1 Education	
5.2 Reasons for Working at Home	75
5.3 Challenges of Working at Home	
5.4 Differences Within the Group	
6. CONCLUSION	ጸበ

References	81
Appendices	95

# 1. INTRODUCTION

Research conducted during the 1980's and 1990's found that persons with disabilities in Canada face considerable barriers to employment, resulting in significantly lower employment rates compared to persons without disabilities. During the same period, a variety of social, economic and technological factors led to significant growth in the number and proportion of Canadian workers who do some or all of their work at home.

As home-based work and telework/telecommuting have become increasingly practical and common, working at home has been suggested as a strategy that may provide additional employment opportunities for persons with disabilities. A number of studies have examined the benefits, challenges and risks that may be experienced by persons with disabilities who work at home, but there have only been a handful of these studies in Canada. As a result, there are significant gaps in our understanding of the experiences of persons with disabilities who work at home in Canada.

This report describes the findings of a study of 21 persons with disabilities who do paid employment at home in Canada, mostly in the city of Winnipeg, Manitoba. A companion handbook entitled *Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities* provides practical advice for workers with disabilities who work or want to work at home, employers, unions, policymakers, researchers, organizations of persons with disabilities and agencies that provide job search and other employment supports to persons with disabilities.

# 2. PREVIOUS RESEARCH

# 2.1 The Employment of Persons with Disabilities in Canada

Research conducted during the 1980's and 1990's found that persons with disabilities in Canada face considerable barriers to obtaining and keeping jobs, and have consistently lower employment and labour force participation rates than persons without disabilities (Fawcett 2000; Fawcett 1996; Roeher Institute 1992; Ross and Shillington 1990). For example, Statistics Canada's 1991 Health and Activity Limitation Survey found that only 48 percent of persons with disabilities between 15 and 64 were employed, compared to 73 percent of persons without disabilities in the same age group. For persons with disabilities that Statistics Canada defined as having moderate disabilities, only 37 percent were employed. Only 18 percent of persons with severe disabilities were employed (Statistics Canada 1993).

# 2.2 The Growth of Home-Based Work and Telework/Telecommuting

Also during the 1980's and 1990's, a variety of social, economic and technological factors led to significant growth in the number and proportion of workers who do some or all of their work at home. Statistics Canada's 1995 Survey of Work Arrangements (SWA) found that nine percent of all paid employees in Canada—approximately one million people—did some of their work at home (Pérusse 1998a), an increase from six percent and 600,000 workers in the 1991 SWA (Siroonian 1993). Statistics Canada expects the 2001 census to show continued growth in the number and proportion of Canadians who do paid work at home (Johne 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although the results of this survey are ten years old, they remain the most comprehensive national statistics about the employment of persons with disabilities in Canada. Statistics Canada conducted a similar survey called the Participation and Activity Limitation Survey in the fall of 2001. The findings of that survey are expected to be published in 2003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The 1995 survey also found that 1.1 million Canadians operated home-based businesses (Pérusse 1998b). The current study, however, focuses on paid employees who work at home instead of at their employers' workplaces.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A recent survey of 5,008 Canadians found that 52 percent of employed Canadians felt that working from home was appealing (Ekos Research Associates 2001).

However, despite frequent media portrayals of persons with sophisticated home offices who work at home most or all of the time (Quigley 1999), relatively few Canadians do much of their paid work at home. For example, 42 percent of the one million Canadian employees who worked at home in 1995 worked at home fewer than five hours a week (Pérusse 1998a). That survey did not distinguish persons who did overtime work at home from persons who work at home for some or all of their *normal* working hours. Nevertheless, closer examination of the survey's findings suggests that many of the one million Canadians who worked at home in 1995 were not truly home-based workers or teleworkers/telecommuters. For example, 28 percent of those who reported working at home were teachers, an occupation in which it is common to do overtime work at home on evenings or weekends after doing a full day or week of work at the employer's workplace.

In fact, only 206,000 employed Canadians spent at least half of their normal working hours doing paid work at home in 1995. Although this was a substantial increase from 147,000 in 1991, the proportion of Canadian workers who work at home most or all of the time remains very low: less than two percent of all Canadian workers and approximately 20 percent of all paid employees who do some of their work at home. Instead, this survey indicated that 80 percent of Canadians who worked at home in 1995 actually did the majority of their work at their employers' workplaces.

Despite the small numbers of truly home-based employees in Canada, it is clear that more and more work is being done in the homes of Canadian workers. The factors fueling this growth are varied and complex.

### Workers

Some people work at home to complete tasks or projects that require intense concentration and freedom from interruptions (Blake 1999). In large cities, persons who work at home are liberated from the stresses and lost time of lengthy commutes (Aschaiek 2000; Johnson 1997). Many workers are seeking more flexible working arrangements to balance work and other responsibilities. Although the telecommuting literature warns against combining work at home with childcare (Duxbury, Higgins, and Neufeld 1998), working at home can provide workers with greater flexibility to balance work, family and other non-work responsibilities. For example,

people who work at home some or all of the time may have greater flexibility to adjust their work schedules to attend to the short-term needs (e.g. minor illnesses, doctors' appointments) of children, spouses or parents/elders (Ashton and Ashton 1999; McCloskey and Igbaria 1998; Heck, Rowe and Owen 1995; Gray, Hodson and Gordon 1993). Home-based workers and teleworkers/telecommuters often report reduced costs for business clothing, parking and restaurant lunches (Mann 2000). Smoke-free workplaces have made home-based work a desirable option for some heavy smokers.<sup>4</sup>

# **Employers**

Employers can incur substantial cost savings by eliminating office space that would otherwise be occupied by employees who work at home (Nilles 1998). The potential savings can be so substantial that some companies mandate telecommuting for entire departments (Sibley 1997). Even when employees only work at home part-time, companies have cut overhead costs by creating shared generic workspaces which telecommuting employees reserve and use on the days when they are in the office (Johnson 1997). Employers also have flexibility to expand (temporarily or permanently) without moving to larger premises (Gray, Hodson and Gordon 1993).

Some companies have created broad flexible work programs which include working at home as well as job sharing, part-time work, flexi-time and compressed work weeks (Owen, Rowe, and Saltford 1995; Christensen 1992). The option of working at home can provide employers with a powerful tool for attracting and retaining skilled workers who have considerable choice of employers, particularly during tight labour markets (Ramsey 1997). Home-based work also provides the opportunity to recruit and employ persons who would not consider relocating to the city where the job is located (Johne 2000).

Much of the telecommuting literature contains claims that employers can achieve productivity increases when employees work at home or do other forms of telecommuting (Gray, Hodson, and Gordon 1993). Claims of 15-20 percent productivity increases are common (International Telecommuting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> From a discussion on the Canadian Small Office/Home Office (SOHO-CAN) e-mail listsery (http://groups.yahoo.com) October 24-26, 1999.

Association and Council 2000; Ashton and Ashton 1999; Hartman, Stoner, and Arora 1992). There are, however, numerous reasons to be cautious about these claims. Many are based exclusively on self-reported data provided by telecommuters who may be inclined to provide data they believe will allow them to maintain their work arrangement (Aschaiek 2000; Mann 2000; Hartman, Stoner, and Arora 1992). Other studies claiming productivity improvements are based on anecdotal reports about organizations within the telecommunications and computer industries "which have vested interests in reporting results favorable to telecommuting." (Westfall 1998: 257)

## Other Factors

Economic, technological and social factors are also driving or facilitating the growth of home-based work. Prior to the mid-1980's, most Canadians who worked at home were industrial workers, often immigrant women doing piecework for garment manufacturers (Borowy and Yuen 1993). Industrial home-based work continues to exist, but much of the recent growth in home-based work has been in information-based occupations and industries. Advances in computer and telecommunications technologies have reduced the need for information-based workers to be assembled at central work sites (Owen, Heck, and Rowe 1995). Telephones, fax machines, computers, e-mail, networks and teleconferencing provide efficient means of transmitting information between workers in different locations. As a result, workers who create, process or communicate information can work at home, in hotels, even on airplanes.

# 2.3 Challenges of Home-Based Work

# Workers

Some people who work at home appreciate the solitude and freedom from common workplace distractions. This is common amongst persons just starting to work at home and those who work at home infrequently (Costello 1988). Other home-based workers, however, miss the social interaction of the workplace. They have less ability to discuss problems with colleagues, participate in informal meetings and share non-work experiences (Blake 1999). A recent British study comparing the experiences of journalists who worked at home to those who worked at an employer's premises found that feelings of loneliness, isolation and frustration were more common among

those who worked at home. They were also more likely to feel overworked and guilty, and suffer from more stress-related disorders (Martin 2000).

Two studies which had otherwise positive findings found that telecommuters identified communication problems with co-workers as a disadvantage (Duxbury, Higgins, and Neufeld 1998; Hartman, Stoner, and Arora 1992). Ramsower (1985) found that persons who worked at home full-time experienced difficulties communicating with subordinates. A British study found that nuances of tone, meaning and body language are minimized by electronic communication, rendering the interaction "cold and unsociable" compared to the "rich and emotionally charged domain of face-to-face communication" (Mann 2000).

Home-based workers must create boundaries between their work and non-work lives to minimize their mutual interference (Haddon 1998). Those who have difficulty establishing and maintaining these boundaries can experience personal stress and conflict with family members (Blake 1999; Heck, Rowe, and Owen 1995; Costello 1988).

The business and mass media often feature telecommuters who work in sophisticated home offices, but this may be a luxury available only to persons who can afford homes with "extra" rooms (Haddon 1998). Those who don't have dedicated home offices must use spaces they and other family members use for other purposes. These shared arrangements can create conflict with other family members (Costello 1988). Home-based workers must also control other family members' access to work-related computers, telephones and information (Haddon 1998). Shared space can also make it difficult for persons who work at home to create an image, for themselves and others, that they are truly "at work" when they work at home (Haddon 1998).

Some telecommuters experience difficulties preventing their work from intruding on the non-work aspects of their lives. For example, some feel compelled to answer their home office telephones after their normal working hours (Brelis 1999). Those who see telecommuting is a perk or privilege may feel pressure to work longer or harder to maintain the arrangement, which can lead to burnout and resentment (Brelis 1999; Schellenbarger 1993).

Some employers may cultivate working conditions that can lead to overwork (Schellenbarger 1993). For example, at a Minnesota county government, "most departments require telecommuters to do more work to make up for the lack of a commute" (Harreld, 2000). The employer can monitor the times home-based workers are connected to the county's computer network, and found that most work more than eight hours a day.

Many studies have identified issues with technology as challenges for home-based workers (Mann 2000; Kistner 2000; Martin 2000; Haddon 1998). These issues include hardware, software and access to technical support (Hartman, Stoner, and Arora 1992). High-speed broadband connections are essential to the productivity of home-based workers who send and receive data over networks or the Internet. Residential broadband connections (e.g. DSL, cable) are sometimes unreliable and available only in large urban centres (Dunham 2000; Tapscott 2000; O'Hara and Haubold 2000; Kistner 2000).

Critics of telecommuting argue that the cost savings incurred by employers are often shifted to home-based workers (Chamot 1988). In a recent survey of U.S. teleworkers, only 24 per cent reported that their employers paid the full cost of providing and maintaining the equipment the telecommuters utilized to do their work. Forty-six per cent reported that they paid for their own equipment and its maintenance (International Telecommuting Association and Council 2000). Another U.S. survey found that only 18 per cent of employers paid the full cost of their telecommuters' business phone, fax and modem connections (American Management Association 1999).

Some studies have found that some telecommuters feel that their career advancement opportunities have been harmed by working at home (Martin 2000; Blake 1999). Hartman, Stoner, and Arora (1992) suggest that home-based workers' career advancement opportunities may be harmed because they are less visible than those in the office, have reduced access to information that is exchanged informally in the workplace, and have fewer opportunities to take on additional assignments and responsibilities.

# **Employers**

Employers may experience challenges monitoring dispersed teams when employees telecommute (Harris 2000; Gray, Hodson and Gordon 1993). Employers may find conflict between employees who work in the office and

those who work at home (Harris 2000; Harreld 2000; Public Service Alliance of Canada 1993). Some media reports have argued that teleworkers "leave gaps in the workplace", and make it difficult for managers to facilitate creative teamwork (Harris 2000). For example, a Vice-President of a U.S. Internet services business said "We're creating new things and building new solutions... We need people working side by side, in the office, sharing ideas" (Dunham 2000).

Organizations may see employee loyalty and organizational culture weakened (Dunham 2000; Konrad 2000; Mann 2000; Gray, Hodson and Gordon 1993). Some employers regard the cost of the technology required by teleworkers as a barrier (Harris 2000). Information Technology departments may have concerns about the additional demands of providing technical support to employees who work at home (Harreld 2000). There are also security issues when employees access company networks from home computers (Berinato 2000). High-speed cable and DSL connections that are always connected to the Internet are particularly vulnerable to security breaches (Berinato 2000; Wolk 2000). Additional security risks may exist because anti-virus and firewall software on teleworkers' home computers may not be updated as regularly as on computers in traditional workplaces (Wolk 2000).

The telecommuting literature often states that managers who are uncomfortable supervising employees who do not work in the employer's workplace can be a significant barrier to the continued growth of telecommuting (Harreld 2000; McMahon 2000; Gordon 1988). A recent survey of 769 human resource professionals in the U.S. found that 68 per cent said telecommuters are not more difficult to manage than on-site employees (Kleiman 2000). A spokesperson for the human resources company that conducted the survey suggested that:

...employees who telecommute must first establish their credibility in a traditional setting, and what makes them good employees in the office makes them good telecommuters. That's why they're not more difficult to manage. (Kleiman 2000)

# Societal Challenges

As companies seek new ways to save costs, the distinctions between employment and self-employment are becoming increasingly blurred (Gray,

Hodson, and Gordon 1993). Home-based self-employment is sometimes the only alternative to unemployment or early retirement for workers whose jobs are eliminated when companies downsize. Terminated employees are sometimes offered the "opportunity" to continue working for the company as independent contractors (Haddon 1998; Owen, Rowe, and Saltford 1995; Christensen 1992). These persons are typically paid only for the completion of specific tasks or projects, receive no employment benefits, and have limited access to the companies' facilities and supports. Labour unions have expressed concerns that telecommuting and related changes may lead to the erosion of some worker protections (Public Service Alliance of Canada 1993).

# 2.4 Home-Based Work in Canada

The Government of Canada implemented a Telework Pilot Policy from 1992 to 1995. Approximately 549 federal government teleworkers responded to a survey evaluating the pilot (Treasury Board Secretariat, 1996). The most frequently cited reasons for wanting to telework were to have more control over work conditions (e.g. fewer interruptions disturbing concentration), to reduce commuting time, to save money (e.g. on transportation, parking, clothing) and to have more flexible work hours. When asked if they had experienced any changes in their personal and professional lives since beginning to telework, the teleworkers reported major improvements in control over their work environment, job satisfaction, overall stress level, flexibility to coordinate work/personal responsibilities, work interruptions, balancing work and personal life, general health, productivity, absenteeism, and ability to meet deadlines (Treasury Board Secretariat 1996).

Although almost all of the teleworkers indicated that they were satisfied or very satisfied with their work arrangements, there were small negative changes on measures of work-related and social interaction with coworkers, sense of belonging to the organization and career opportunities. Some of the teleworkers and their union representatives also expressed concerns about occupational health and safety issues, primarily regarding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Most worked in Ontario and Quebec. Twenty-seven federal government departments were represented, but 62% of the teleworkers worked at Revenue Canada. Most (80%) had some post-secondary education. Seven percent identified themselves as persons with disabilities.

responsibility for ensuring that teleworkers' home offices were ergonomically sound (Treasury Board Secretariat 1996).

Duxbury, Higgins, and Neufeld (1998) studied 54 persons who participated in telework pilot projects at three Canadian organizations between 1993 and 1995. Six months after starting to work at home one to three days a week, the most frequent advantages identified by participants were increased productivity, freedom from distractions and interruptions, not having to commute, flexibility to deal with non-work demands (e.g. doctors' appointments, home repairpersons) and having more time to spend with family members. Many participants were unable to identify any disadvantages related to working at home, but the disadvantages reported by some were problems communicating with co-workers, being summoned to the office for unscheduled meetings on work-at-home days, a tendency to work too much and being interrupted by family members.

Duxbury, Higgins, and Neufeld conclude that working at home helps professional parents balance work and family demands. They warn, however, that their sample is non-representative and the generalizability of their findings may be limited to other highly educated professionals who earn high incomes. They also note that the evaluation lasted only six months, which prevented any assessment of long-term impacts telework may have on work-family conflict.

Mirchandani (1998, 1999) interviewed 50 teleworkers in Ottawa, Montreal and Quebec during 1993-94. She found that the study participants perceived numerous risks associated with working at home, and developed various ways of maintaining the boundary between their work and non-work lives. Most reported that they had a separate room in the home that was used exclusively for paid work activity. They also reported that they had developed various rituals of "going to work" at home to substitute for the transition usually provided by the traditional commute to work. For example, one participant carried her briefcase into her home office each morning. Another put a nameplate on the door of her home office to

<sup>6</sup> All participants were married, had spouses who worked for pay, and had children living with them. Most were highly educated professionals with high incomes: 49% earned \$40,000-60,000 annually and 42% earned more than \$60,000 a year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Most were married to spouses who also did paid work, and had children.

reinforce that the room was her office, not a spare bedroom (Mirchandani 1999).

Most also maintained the psychological separation between their work and non-work lives by following regular work schedules. Within these schedules, however, participants reported having flexibility to attend to non-work demands such as house cleaning, grocery shopping, cooking, laundry, and childcare during work time. Mirchandani found gender differences in teleworkers' reasons for maintaining these boundaries. Most of the male participants reported that they maintained the boundary between their work and non-work lives primarily for work-related reasons (e.g. to minimize interruptions while they were working.) Most of the women maintained this separation primarily to prevent stress associated with simultaneously juggling work and family responsibilities. Two-thirds of the women—but only one-third of the men—also indicated that they separated work from non-work to prevent work from intruding on their family lives (Mirchandani 1999).

As part of a larger survey, Ekos Research Associates (2001) surveyed 466 Canadians who did paid work at home in the fall of 2000. A majority reported that working at home had improved their overall quality of life, working hours, finances, and standard of living. Most others reported that working at home had no impact in these areas, and only a small minority reported negative impacts. When asked about the impact of working at home on career advancement, the overwhelming majority reported that working at home had either a neutral or positive impact on their career advancement. Only 15 percent reported a negative impact on career advancement.

# 2.5 Home-Based Work and Persons with Disabilities

Within the general literature on home-based work and telecommuting, there are frequent suggestions that home-based work may provide new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Very few of the participants attempted to combine child-care with paid work at home, but almost all of the mothers were responsible for making arrangements for external childcare, and for organizing their paid work around the timings of those arrangements (Mirchandani, 1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This survey included self-employed persons who worked at home, as well as persons who did overtime work at home.

employment opportunities for persons with disabilities (Johne 2000; Blake 1999; Robertson 1999; Haddon 1991; Grant 1985). This is also noted within literature on the vocational rehabilitation of persons with disabilities:

[N]ew computer technologies and the growing trend toward home-based work appear to especially enhance the employment and earnings of people with disabilities. New information technologies that put a premium on intellectual and interpersonal skills offer solid employment opportunities for individuals with disabilities who have kept up with the changing business environment. (Radtke 1999, 7)

It has also been noted in mass media portrayals for at least twenty years:

One reason for the growing appeal of moving a computer terminal into the home is that it allows employers to tap labor pools that could not otherwise be reached. And for those at home—either by design or necessity—it offers an opportunity to enter the ranks of the gainfully employed...Walgreen, McDonald's, and Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph are all installing terminals in the homes of the handicapped so that they can be employed to write computer programs without having to leave their homes. (The Potential for Telecommuting 1981)

Telecommuting...can be the answer when a worker is disabled, temporarily or permanently... "Accommodating trained employees with health problems or disabilities while they're still able and willing to work is a driving force behind Canadian telework" says Bob Fortier, president of Innovisions Canada and the Canadian Telework Association. (Telecommuting Boosts Health, Productivity 1998)

Three trends are working in concert to launch disabled people into the workforce: A record-high demand for skilled labour; advances in adaptive technologies—hardware devices and software programs that let the disabled perform common business tasks like searching the Web or using the telephone; and perhaps most important, an ever-increasing awareness and acceptance of workstyles such as telecommuting and flextime that let workers train for and perform full-fledged careers from home. (Cleaver 2000a)

Today's tight job market, coupled with employers' increasing comfort with flexible work arrangements, has yielded dramatic gains for America's 43 million, often-overlooked disabled workers. Thanks to technological advances, many disabled employees are spending all or part of their days working from home—and savvy companies see the competitive advantage of offering home-based jobs to this eager workforce. (Cleaver 2000b)

# Canada

Between 1994 and 1999, four studies examined various aspects of home-based employment and disability in Canada. Price Waterhouse (1994) conducted five focus group meetings with persons with disabilities, three meetings with members of organizations representing persons with disabilities, and two meetings with employers. Overall, the most frequently identified advantages of home-based employment were increased flexibility, not having to depend on unreliable accessible transportation, reduced stress and decreased costs. Disadvantages were isolation and barriers to career progression.

Persons with disabilities felt that home-based employment offered new opportunities to unemployed persons, while employers and persons from disability organizations felt that employers were more likely to provide home-based employment to existing employees than to new employees. Most participants felt that the opportunity to work at home would be most readily available to highly-educated knowledge-based workers who utilize computers. Lack of education, training and work experience, as well as the cost of special equipment, were identified as potential barriers to working at home. Many organization representatives said that more energy should be devoted to integrating persons with disabilities into regular workplaces rather than home-based employment (Price Waterhouse 1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Price Waterhouse (1994) report does not attribute any comments to home-based workers with disabilities. A home-based worker with a disability who attended one of the focus group meetings of persons with disabilities reported that she was the only person in attendance who worked at home. It seems possible, therefore, that very few of the persons with disabilities who participated in Price Waterhouse (1994) had first-hand experience doing home-based work.

During 1995-97, the Canadian government conducted a \$1.25 million pilot telework project for federal government employees with disabilities in the Ottawa-Hull area and Quebec (TECSO 1998; Lapointe, Massé, Beaudoin, Mabilleau, Szlamkowicz and Geoffroy 1998; Lapointe, Massé, Mabilleau and Beaudoin 1998a; Mabilleau et. al. 1997). The 18 participants worked at home two to three days per week and at their regular offices the other days. At the conclusion of the 18 month pilot, they reported that the greatest benefits of working at home were reduced time and effort spent in transportation, a more flexible work schedule, and access to a more adapted work environment suited to their individual needs (TECSO 1998).

Many of the participants—particularly those who were blind or had limited upper-limb mobility—reported that the quality of the assistive technologies provided by the employer often presented a significant challenge to working from home.

...the technology in place was often obsolete, despite availability on the market of more effective solutions. (TECSO 1998)

The researchers suggest that the costs of providing assistive technology at two locations may be a barrier to persons with disabilities splitting their work time between their office and their home (Mabilleau et. al. 1997). TECSO (1998) indicates that there is a need for greater training for computer support staff responsible for installing and maintaining technical aids for employees with disabilities who work at home.

During 1997-98, a survey of 178 employers in B.C., Ontario, Quebec and Nova Scotia examined Canadian employers' attitudes towards home-based work by persons with disabilities. The project has not been completed and no findings or recommendations have been published. Employers reported that home-based employment opportunities would likely increase over the next five years. They also reported, however, difficulties recruiting candidates with disabilities, specifically that they often found gaps between the requirements of available jobs and the skills of job seekers with disabilities (Dena Maule, personal communication, January 2001).

A 1998-99 study examined the home-based work experiences of ten persons with disabilities in Quebec. A brief report indicates that some of the issues identified by the participants were the maintenance of boundaries between work and family life, the costs of technology, reduced career

development opportunities, supervision and the risk of increased stress and isolation (Boucher, Oullet, and Fournier 1999).

## United States

A 1992 literature review found that there were relatively few U.S. telework initiatives which included persons with disabilities.

Control Data Corporation ran a very productive program for disabled workers in which the only major problem stemmed from inexperienced or otherwise inadequate managers. A state of California project involving approximately 150 mostly professional level workers, which included mentally disabled workers, did find that telecommuting reduced commuting stress for these workers. (Bureau of Transportation Statistics 1992)

The report argues that those telework initiatives which included or were specifically for persons with disabilities "were discontinued in funding cuts that were due in part to the current preference of vocational rehabilitation specialists for mainstreaming."

As part of a larger program to increase the proportion of persons with disabilities in its workforce, the U.S. Department of Defense introduced a flexible work program for employees with permanent and temporary disabilities in 1993. An evaluation of the program's demonstration phase examined the experiences of 34 employees with disabilities who spent some their normal working hours at home (Hesse 1995, 1996). Persons with short-term disabilities tended to choose telecommuting for different reasons than persons with long-term disabilities. All those with temporary disabilities reported that working at home was the only alternative to not working at all. As a result, they worked at home full-time temporarily, returning to the employer's workplace after recovering from their disabilities. Most persons with long-term disabilities, however, worked at home part-time permanently. They worked at home some days (or some hours of a day) to accommodate medical demands, to avoid dangerous commuting conditions, or to accomplish more work.

A major advantage of working at home—both for persons with short-term and long-term disabilities—was the increased sense of control they experienced from being able to minimize disruptions caused by factors

such as inadequate transportation, attendant care, medical care, etc. Working at home also allowed participants who experienced fatigue or side effects of medications to work during the hours they were most productive. The participants and their supervisors reported that this increased sense of control resulted in improved productivity, health, and morale.

Most employees with short-term disabilities "reported being so grateful for not having to drain their sick leave accounts that they found the experience to be quite tolerable" (Hesse 1995, 421). Persons with long-term disabilities, however, reported a number of problems, beginning with difficulties initiating and negotiating a work-at-home arrangement. Some worried that co-workers perceived colleagues who worked at home as malingerers. As a result, some reported that they overcompensated by working longer hours. The author warns that "unclear boundaries in conjunction with anxiety over personal acceptance could set employees up for exploitation and burnout" (Hesse 1995, 422).

A 1994-95 survey of 160 American companies with telecommuting programs found that 24 percent of the organizations had employees with disabilities who telecommuted (Jarrett 1996a, 1996b, 1996c). The most common form of telecommuting by persons with disabilities was within employers' larger telecommuting programs, but Jarrett also identified three broad kinds of telecommuting arrangements specifically for persons with disabilities:

- (1) programs—typically older ones—created to accommodate persons with permanent physical disabilities;
- (2) newer programs developed to retain and re-employ employees with temporary disabilities as well as persons with permanent disabilities;
- (3) informal arrangements to accommodate employees with temporary conditions such as cancer treatments, pregnancy complications, broken limbs, or family medical emergencies.

Most employers indicated that the requirements for successful telecommuting by persons with the disabilities were essentially the same as for persons without disabilities. Respondents identified isolation and the cost of assistive technology as additional considerations for persons with disabilities. To counteract the potential for isolation, employers reported that they adopted a variety of short-term and long-term policies and procedures. These included mandatory on-site participation at staff

meetings and limiting telecommuting to a maximum number of days per week (usually two or three). To prevent isolation over the longer-term, one U.S. federal agency has a policy that telecommuters with disabilities may request a change to an on-site position at any time, and must be offered on-site employment at least every two years (Jarrett 1996a).

In contrast to other literature which suggests that unemployed persons with disabilities face considerable barriers to telecommuting (Price Waterhouse 1994; Milpied 1995), 47 percent of the employers surveyed indicated that telecommuting is viable for new employees. An additional 19 percent said they "possibly" would allow a new employee to telecommute. Only seven percent said they would definitely not allow new employees to telecommute.

When asked what role telecommuting played in the broader provision of workplace accommodations for persons with disabilities, approximately one-quarter of the employers reported that telecommuting was the single most important workplace accommodation. The remainder viewed telecommuting as a supplement to accommodations at a central work site (Jarrett 1996a).

Analysing data from the 1997 Current Population Survey, Kruse and Hyland (1998) found that the percentage of U.S. workers with disabilities doing paid work at home (15.1%) was greater than the percentage of workers without disabilities who worked at home (9.8%). On closer examination, however, the higher overall rate of home-based work amongst workers with disabilities was due mostly to self-employed persons with disabilities who work at home. The authors suggest that the high rate of home-based work among self-employed persons with disabilities may indicate that the number of persons with disabilities desiring home-based work exceeds the number of home-based jobs offered by employers (Kruse and Hyland 1998).

<sup>11 63.5</sup> per cent of self-employed persons with disabilities worked at home, compared to 52.5 per cent of self-employed persons without disabilities (statistically significant at p <.05). There were no statistically significant differences in the proportion of home-based workers with and without disabilities who were paid employees of governments, not-for-profit organizations and private industry.

Amongst employees without disabilities who worked at home, the most common reason for working at home was the coordination of personal and family needs (27.5 per cent). Only 5.1 per cent of home-based employees with disabilities cited this as their major reason for working at home. Instead, their most frequently stated reason for working at home was "illness, disability, and health reasons" (16.7 per cent). Less than one per cent of home-based employees without disabilities cited this as the major reason for working at home (Kruse and Hyland 1998).

On July 26, 2000, U.S. President Clinton issued a memorandum to heads of executive departments and agencies (Employing People with Significant Disabilities to Fill Federal Agency Jobs that can be Performed at Alternate Work Sites, Including the Home 2000). The memorandum directed heads of federal departments and agencies operating customer service call centres to identify positions that could be re-located to home-based or other off-site facilities, and filled by qualified persons with disabilities. The memorandum also directed department/agency heads to identify other positions—such as the processing of insurance claims and financial transactions—which could be re-located to home-based and other off-site locations, and carried out by qualified persons with disabilities. Departments and agencies that identified positions which could be performed at home-based and other off-site locations had until November 23, 2000 to develop a Plan of Action to recruit and employ qualified individuals with significant disabilities.

On February 1, 2001, U.S. President George W. Bush created an "Access to Telework" fund as part of the U.S. government's New Freedom Initiative for persons with disabilities (New Freedom Initiative 2001). The fund provides state governments with matching grants to guarantee low-income loans for people with disabilities to purchase equipment to telecommute from home. This initiative also provides additional tax benefits for companies that contribute computers and Internet access to employees with disabilities who work at home.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Despite extensive inquiries to the U.S. Department of Labour, Office of Personnel Management, and Presidential Task Force on the Employment of Adults with Disabilities, we have not been able to ascertain if there has been any progress on the actions specified in this memorandum former U.S. President Clinton issued late in his presidency.

# Europe

Ashok, Hall and Huws (1986) conducted a study involving nine persons with disabilities who worked at home in London, England. Most reported that working at home avoided some barriers to employment (e.g. freedom from traveling to work), but they also reported that it intensified other problems (e.g. isolation). All participants also felt that working at home was an inferior option to working outside the home. The report concludes by challenging the suggestion that home-based work is a solution to the transportation problems of persons with disabilities. Instead of using communications technology to "bring the work to the worker," the report argues that greatest priority should be given to the development of transportation systems which "bring the worker to the work" (Ashok, Hall and Huws 1986, 5).

Murray and Kenny (1990) conducted a study of 11 home-based teleworkers with disabilities in Ireland. Some of the advantages of working at home identified by the participants were flexible working hours, the ability to work without interruption and in a familiar environment, not having to rely on public transportation and not having to deal with inaccessible buildings and inclement weather. Disadvantages were lack of social contact, lack of work support and difficulties consulting others, as well as lack of structure, which necessitated considerable self-discipline and motivation. At the end of the project, several of the participating employers felt that telework was useful for retaining valued employees who needed the flexibility of work hours and location which telework could offer.

During the mid-1990's, the European Commission (EC) funded several pan-European research and development projects on telework and disability. One pilot project promoted the employment of persons with disabilities in telework centres in Ireland, Scotland, England, Finland, Italy, and Greece from 1994-95 (Mercinelli et. al. 1994). The authors argue that teleworking is a feasible and promising employment option for persons with disabilities, but report that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Telework centres (or telecentres) are facilities that provide generic workspaces and supports for teleworkers who cannot or prefer not to work at home.

...the development of disabled teleworking schemes in Europe has been slow. A number of pilot initiatives have taken place in the 1980s and 1990s, but generally these have struggled, both in the case of independent telecentres and in the case of regular employment of disabled teleworkers. (Mercinelli et. al. 1994)

A report on another EC-funded project that operated in France, Spain and Germany during 1994-95 argues that a major barrier to the expansion of telework for persons with disabilities is that employers are more likely to offer home-based work to current employees who become disabled or experience a progression of an existing disability (Milpied 1995). Unemployed persons with disabilities needing or desiring home-based work have greater difficulty because they must find an employer who is not only willing to hire a person with a disability, but is also comfortable with having employees working at home. Like other studies, Milpied cautions that isolation can result from working at home. She notes, however, that home-based work may provide an important source of new social contacts to persons whose unemployment was a major source of isolation (see also Pratt 1984).

Lilenthal, Goll and Zapp (1998) conducted a study involving 27 teleworkers with disabilities in Germany. The study participants identified four major advantages of telework, including the reduction or elimination of the need to regularly travel to work. Telework also provided them with freedom to establish a work schedule that accommodated their individual capabilities and needs. The participants also reported that the accessibility of an employer's primary workplace is not a barrier to teleworkers. Finally, the participants felt that, combined with emerging careers in information and communication technology, teleworking can provide new career opportunities for persons with disabilities.

The study participants also identified a number of disadvantages associated with telework. Nearly all of them were dissatisfied with the lack of personal contact and informal discussions with their colleagues and supervisors. They also reported that supervisors who cannot physically observe their employees working often make unrealistic demands of teleworkers with disabilities in order to prevent them from "slacking off." The study participants also reported that solving technical problems can be difficult and result in lost work time, with the burden of making up for this lost time often placed on the worker.

The authors also argue that two additional issues need to be addressed before large numbers of persons with disabilities can become teleworkers. First, many positions suited to teleworking require the use of e-mail and other features of the Internet. Vocational training for persons with disabilities must address these needs and adapt to other changing demands of the labour market. Secondly, technical aids allow many persons with disabilities to utilize computers, but accessibility to people with disabilities is often not given sufficient consideration during the design of software and documents on the Internet. The authors argue that international standards are necessary to ensure that these new media are accessible to persons with disabilities (Lilenthal, Goll, and Zapp 1998).

# 2.6 Learning Technologies and Home-Based Work

There is a vast and complex literature available regarding learning and educational technologies. Most of this research, however, examines the application of technology in education, and very little is directed at the use of technology by students with disabilities (Fichten, Barile and Asunciun 1999, 18). Additionally, there is little literature that describes the potential for applying learning technologies in the workplace, and almost none describes the possibility of using learning technologies to facilitate home-based work and telecommuting. This is surprising, since many challenges of home-based work (e.g. decreased contact with co-workers, exclusion from training, inability to participate in social events or meetings at work) could be addressed through the use of learning technologies such as video conferencing tools.

Development of European Learning Through Technology Advance (DELTA) is a European Commission program that provides hardware, software, and communications technologies for open and distance learning. DELTA defines learning technologies as:

...all information and communication technologies which may be used in order to help the education and training processes. A more comprehensive definition of learning technologies should include all the media traditionally used in distance and open learning, i.e. printed text, telephone, postal services, broadcast and recorded radio and TV, but also encompassing the new media based on digital processing such as Computer Based Education, Fax, E-mail,

computer and video conferencing, interactive video, multimedia materials, etc. (DELTA 1990, 1)

In Canada, the federal government's Office of Learning Technologies has developed a definition of learning technologies with specific reference to disability:

Learning technologies for people with disabilities can be defined as tools that are used to carry out the tasks associated with the process of learning. The effectiveness of these tools in enhancing the learning and education processes for people with disabilities is mediated by instructional methods and strategies, curricula, and disabilities themselves or by others fostering inclusive social, educational, and economic environments for learning (Learning Technologies and People with Disabilities, 2)

In Canada, many of the technologies used to facilitate learning have become commonplace in office and white-collar work sites. Most office workers have access to phone, fax, computer and e-mail in their daily activities. According to the Office of Learning Technologies, "Canada is a pioneer in the application of telelearning and continues to be a globally recognized and respected source of research and innovation in the field" (Curry, Neill, Galan and Harasim 1998, 5). However, they add that, for the most part, Canadians have not utilized these technologies in their educational institutions or workplaces.

A group of Canadian researchers that developed a communication system to link hospitalized children to their classrooms sees potential for adapting this learning technology for use by persons with disabilities engaged in home-based work. PEBBLES<sup>14</sup> is a "video-mediated communication system" (Fels, Weiss and Talampas 2000, 2) with two components, one for the classroom and one for the hospitalized child. The classroom component consists of a "child-size, yellow, egg-shaped device which transmit[s] a live and interactive audio/visual image of the classroom to a computer located in the hospital. The hospital unit transmit[s] a full-sized, live audio/visual image of the remote student's face to the classroom" (Fels, Weiss and Talampas 2000, 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> PEBBLES is an acronym for "Providing Education By Bringing Learning Environments to Students".

PEBBLES provides real time interaction between the hospitalized student, the classroom, and other students. The remote user controls the classroom PEBBLES unit with a modified Nintendo game controller. An animated hand located near the top of the classroom PEBBLES unit can be "waved" by the hospitalized child to get the attention of the teacher or other students in the classroom. This use of a technological avatar provides a physical presence for the child at the school site, increasing their presence in the classroom, and allowing for more meaningful interaction with their teacher and classmates.

Pilot studies of this technology have found that it successfully facilitates interaction between the remote user and other members of the group (Williams et. al. 1997). The participants reported feeling as if they were a part of the group, and were able to complete between 80-90% of all tasks (e.g. reading a blackboard, participating in a discussion, finding a person in the classroom). Children were familiar with the Nintendo game controller and found it effective, but an adult user found it awkward and unfamiliar. Other limitations identified by individual users included not being able to draw or type on the classroom computer, not being able to read the classroom computer screen, and difficulty in following group discussions.

These researchers have explored the possibility of adapting this technology for use by persons with disabilities who work at home. Weiss, Fels and Treviranus (1999) argues that PEBBLES-like technology could provide—as it does in the classroom—a "telepresence" for home-based workers, allowing them to better interact with co-workers and participate in on-site activities such as meetings and training. The possibility of adapting this learning technology for use by home-based workers has much potential. Unfortunately, there has been almost no research on the use of learning technologies by persons with disabilities who work at home (Deborah Fels, telephone interview, 3 October 2000). Fels and her colleagues have also been unable to secure funding to adapt and test their PEBBLES technology in home-based work settings.

Other learning technologies have the potential to assist home-based workers with disabilities. The development of "desk-top training"—training modules delivered via desktop computers to individuals—allows each person to train individually and at their own pace (Fichten, Barile and Ascuncion 1999, 1). These kinds of learning technologies could help to

solve some of the more common barriers to home-based work, such as the difficulty of delivering training to off-site workers. Ergonomically-designed computer hardware (e.g. keyboards) make computer access easier for people with carpal tunnel disorders (Fichten, Barile and Ascuncion 1999, 20). Aurora Systems Inc., a software development company, has designed a system of communication components that "can be used to attach augmentative communication devices, laptop computer trays and other equipment suitable for mounting on wheelchairs, beds, and tables (Aurora, quoted in Fichten, Barile and Ascuncion 1999, 20).

Fichten, Barile and Asuncion also examined the availability and use of learning technologies by students with disabilities in colleges and universities across Canada. They found that "computer and information technologies have the potential both to enhance the lives of people with disabilities as well as to deny them equality of access to education, jobs, and community life" (Fichten, Barile and Ascuncion 1999, 9). Throughout the report, they stress the importance of ensuring that new technologies are accessible, therefore ensuring that "people with disabilities are empowered by the use of learning and information technologies. Thus, they will be able to contribute to the new economy, allowing people with disabilities the opportunity to become experts in new technological fields" (Fichten, Barile and Ascuncion 1999, 17). They also point out the "software that is useful for students with a specific type of impairment may, in fact, create barriers for students with a different impairment" ((Fichten, Barile and Ascuncion 1999, 52). In the development of new technologies, it will be important to consider issues of access for all groups, or risk further excluding persons with disabilities through the use of technology.

## 3. METHODOLOGY

# 3.1 Project Overview

This study began in March 2000 and was completed in January 2002. An eight-person Advisory Committee of researchers and representatives of community-based disability organizations, employers, governments, and the primary funder provided guidance and advice. Mid-term and final evaluations of the project were conducted by an evaluation team consisting of a university professor, a former director of a consumer-based organization and a human resource consultant.

A literature review was conducted from April to August 2001. Focus group meetings with key informants were conducted in June and October 2000. Data collection with home-based workers with disabilities took place in December 2000 and January 2001. Analysis of this data occurred during February and March 2001. The preliminary findings were presented and discussed with the home-based workers and key informants at three workshops held in March and April 2001. A handbook entitled *Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities* was written during the spring and summer of 2001, and this report was written in the fall of 2001. Both documents were published in January 2002.

## 3.2 Definitions

This study focused on persons with disabilities who worked at home as paid employees. Because self-employed persons usually have greater control than employees have over their work arrangements, most self-employed persons and all operators of home-based businesses were excluded from the study. Several persons who were independent contractors were included in the study because their individual work arrangements (e.g. an extended contract with a single organization) were similar to paid employment.

The study included home-based workers who worked at home all the time, as well as persons who split their working times, in varying proportions, between their homes and their employers' workplaces. It excluded persons whose only work at home was paid or unpaid overtime work done on

evenings or weekends after working a full day or week at their employers' workplaces.

## 3.3 Data Collection

## Key Informants

Two focus group meetings with key informants were held in June 2001. The first meeting was attended by nine representatives of disability consumer organizations and agencies that provide employment supports to persons with disabilities. Four representatives of employers attended the second meeting. A third key informant focus group meeting held in October 2001 was attended by five staff of unions and other labour organizations.

All persons who attended the key informant focus group meetings were issued \$50 honoraria. The agendas for the meetings are reproduced in Appendices 1, 2 and 3 of this report. The primary purpose of these meetings was to identify what each group regarded as the benefits and challenges that may be experienced by persons with disabilities who work at home. The findings of these meetings, as well as the literature review, shaped the development of the instruments that were subsequently used for data collection with persons with disabilities who worked at home.

## Home-Based Workers with Disabilities

During December 2000 and January 2001, 22 persons with disabilities who worked at home were asked to (1) complete a questionnaire, (2) attend a focus group meeting or interview and (3) record a daily diary for two weeks. Twenty-two persons completed the questionnaire (see Appendix 4) that collected demographic data as well as information about working at home. Twenty-one attended a focus group meeting or an interview. <sup>16</sup> Eleven recorded diaries about their experiences working at home.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> At various points in the study, some participants declined or returned honoraria, primarily because their employers did not permit them to accept payment or gifts for attending work-related activities. This allowed for the payment of additional honoraria to study participants who attended workshops where the study's preliminary findings were discussed, and/or reviewed draft documents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> One person who completed a questionnaire was unable to participate in a focus group or interview.

The focus group meetings and interviews utilized an agenda with five broad questions (see Appendix 5). Time devoted to discussion of each question varied from meeting to meeting, depending on the experiences and interests of the participants. A few participants who lived outside of Winnipeg or had concerns about confidentiality participated in focus group meetings or interviews by telephone. All persons who participated in a focus group or interview were issued \$50 honoraria.

Members of the research team alternated responsibility for facilitating each meeting. The other researchers assisted the facilitator by taking detailed notes of the discussion, operating the tape recorder and asking supplementary questions.

Eleven persons who attended a focus group meeting or interview subsequently agreed to complete daily diaries for two weeks during December 2000 and/or January 2001.<sup>17</sup> They were asked to answer six questions about their experiences working at home each day for two weeks (Appendix 6). Most persons recorded diaries for a consecutive two-week period, but a few recorded two weeks of entries over a longer period because Christmas holidays fell during the two-week period. Most of the people who participated in the diary phase of data collection provided daily e-mail submissions, but some persons who did not have access to e-mail submitted handwritten diaries. All persons who completed diaries received \$50 honoraria.

# Supervisors of Home-Based Workers with Disabilities

Each of the 21 home-based workers with disabilities who attended a focus group or interview was asked for permission to contact her/his supervisor. Seven gave their permission, and five of their supervisors attended a focus group meeting in January 2001. See Appendix 7 for the agenda used for that meeting. All supervisor participants were issued \$50 honoraria.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Some participants who were working at home when they agreed to participate in the study were not working at home during the diary phase of data collection. Other participants did not complete diaries because they took extended vacations or business trips during the diary period. Others declined to complete diaries because they felt that they could not commit the time required.

# 3.4 Data Analysis

All of the focus group meetings and interviews were tape recorded and professionally transcribed. A researcher compared the transcripts to the source audio recordings and edited the transcripts for improved readability. None of the words spoken by participants were changed, but some punctuation was added or altered. The researcher was also able to discern some words the transcriptionist found inaudible, corrected some technical terms and acronyms, and added contextual notes about laughter, lengthy pauses, interruptions and words emphasized by participants.

The edited transcripts were then reviewed for thematic content, guided initially by the research questions in the meeting/interview agendas. Notes were made of the discussion of each theme at each meeting or interview. After all of the transcripts had been reviewed, notes about each theme were compiled, providing a record of all discussion of that theme during all of the focus groups and interviews. The notes for each theme were then reexamined for sub-themes, patterns and deviations from these patterns. A similar process was used in the analysis of the diary data.

Following the completion of data collection and preliminary analysis, the preliminary findings were presented and discussed at three workshops in March and April 2001. Representatives of disability service agencies, consumer organizations and unions attended the first workshop. Supervisors, employers and human resource professionals attended the second workshop. The third workshop was attended by most of the home-based workers with disabilities who participated in the study. The meeting participants discussed the findings and suggested best practices. The research team reviewed written minutes of these meetings. Meeting participants received \$50 honoraria.

# 3.5 Presentation of the Findings

To protect the anonymity of study participants, some personal pronouns (he/she, him/her) used in the presentation of the findings have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The recording of one focus group meeting was found to be inaudible at the conclusion of the meeting. The researchers reconstructed main points of that group's discussion from extensive notes and a de-briefing discussion immediately following the meeting. Two persons who attended that meeting were subsequently interviewed individually.

changed, i.e. a participant described as "he" may be female. Selected quotations from the transcripts illustrate many of the findings.

## 4. FINDINGS

# 4.1 Key Informants: Service Agencies and Consumer Organizations

Nine representatives of disability service agencies and consumer organizations attended a focus group meeting in June 2000. 19 The majority of the participants were staff of disability service agencies. All of the agency representatives indicated that they had some experience supporting persons with disabilities working at home in the following occupations:

- · news clipping service
- · monitoring television advertising
- · telemarketing, teleservicing, and telephone surveys
- · garment manufacturing
- insurance claims
- banking

The participants at this meeting identified the following benefits persons with disabilities may experience by working at home:

- reduced time and effort for transportation
- freedom from negative aspects of workplace (noise, chemicals/fragrances)
- work hardening (gradual return to work after injury)
- conserving energy
- flexibility to rest when fatigued, work outside of normal work hours

Some participants discussed home-based work as a retention or return-towork strategy for persons who were already employed, but the majority of the discussion focused on home-based work as an additional option for persons who were unemployed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See Appendices 1-3 for the agendas used at the three key informant focus group meetings.

Participants identified the following challenges persons with disabilities who work at home may experience:

- isolation
- difficulty maintaining boundaries between work and home life
- motivation
- communication with colleagues

Participants identified the following factors that may be barriers for persons with disabilities interested in working at home:

- self-esteem and strong negotiation skills are required to request/negotiate working at home
- cost of equipment (many employers expect employees to utilize their own computers while working at home)
- contract work and piecework don't provide stable income for persons who currently depend on income assistance
- orientation and training traditionally occur at the employer's primary workplace

Participants also indicated that two benefits for employers are reduced overhead costs (i.e. office space) and reduced absenteeism (e.g. homebased workers may do some work while sick). They also indicated that many employers are hesitant to allow employees to work at home.

# 4.2 Key Informants: Employers

Four persons attended a focus group meeting for employers in June 2000. Three represented large employers, one in the private sector and two in the public sector. The fourth participant was a human resource consultant with broad experience working with small, medium, and large organizations. The participants were familiar with broad telework and flexible work arrangements, but most had little or no direct experience facilitating homebased work arrangements for persons with disabilities.

One participant indicated that her organization has a written agreement that must be signed by employees who will be working at home, the employer, and the union. Her company also provides or pays for the equipment and services required by employees who work at home.

Participants reported that Winnipeg does not have most of the conditions that are driving the expansion of telework in larger cities. Commute times are still reasonable, and office space is plentiful and affordable (particularly in suburbs and industrial parks). As a result, they do not expect demand for telework in Winnipeg to increase substantially, except from employees seeking greater flexibility to deal with family and other non-work responsibilities. One participant reported that most telework in Winnipeg occurs at large employers and small businesses in start-up mode.

Participants reported a lengthy list of challenges employers may experience when employees work at home:

- security/confidentiality of company documents/information
- difficulty identifying the competencies required by home-based workers
- some jobs are more suited than others for evaluating performance by results rather than activities
- employees working at home have reduced access to informal problemsolving support from co-workers
- isolation
- impact on co-workers (jealousy; extra work required to respond to homebased workers' information requests)
- barriers to career progression
- · some assistive technology is still very expensive
- difficulty accessing information on technology
- additional expertise required to provide technical support for assistive technologies
- health & safety, workers compensation

Participants also indicated that unions are increasingly supportive of persons with disabilities, telework and other flexible work arrangements.

# 4.3 Key Informants: Unions

Five persons attended a focus group meeting of union representatives and staff in October 2000. Two participants were from unions that represent government/public service employees and two persons came from unions representing private sector workers. A staff person of a provincial labour organization also attended. All had previous involvement with the broad

issue of home-based work. Four also had direct experience with union members with disabilities who worked at home.

Participants reported that several unions and joint committees have conducted research on home-based work, including a major study conducted by a federal public service union in the early 1990's. One participant indicated that most of the issues identified in that research remain problems, but technological changes have reduced some of the factors that were problems six to eight years ago.

Some participants reported that their unions had negotiated formal letters of understanding or agreement about home-based work with employers. One indicated that language about home-based work has subsequently been incorporated into the collective agreement in one workplace where he/she represents workers.

The two public sector union representatives indicated that their language stipulates that (1) telecommuting can only be initiated by employees, and (2) the employee, employer, and union have to agree on the telecommuting arrangement. Although these employers can't initiate telecommuting arrangements, one participant clarified that employers ultimately control these arrangements.

Participants reported that employers can benefit several ways by having employees work at home:

- reduced workers' compensation costs (e.g. early return to work for injured workers)
- reduced overhead costs (e.g. office space)
- · improved ability to retain employees

One indicated that some employers cite the environmental benefits of reduced automobile traffic and pollution, but another argued "that's usually a spin, that wasn't their motivation to start with." One participant also indicated that some research has found that telecommuting results in reduced absenteeism.

Participants reported that telecommuting has not grown significantly in Manitoba. One factor cited was employers' concerns about liability for injuries that occur while workers are working at home. Another participant

noted that another barrier to the growth of telework is that employers have greatest control when all workers are in central work locations.

Participants indicated that most persons who work at home are motivated either by family responsibilities or disability. They reported that persons with or without disabilities who work at home may face the following challenges:

- isolation
- · reduced access to job opportunities
- time management
- maintaining boundaries between work and non-work time
- reduced access to supervisor
- confidentiality/privacy/security
- health and safety
- access to technical support
- conflict with co-workers who would like to work at home

Several participants described union members with disabilities who would be on long-term disability or retired if they didn't have the opportunity to work at home at least some of the time. One participant reported that many employers will make minor accommodations for employees who develop illnesses or conditions such as multiple sclerosis, but prefer to offer long-term disability or early retirement if the person subsequently requires increased accommodation.

Participants reported that persons with learning or mental health disabilities experience greater barriers to working at home than persons with other kinds of disabilities. A specific barrier was the risks associated with disclosing these kinds of disabilities to an employer.

Participants reported that it is difficult to represent union members who work at home. For example, one participant reported that one home-based worker she/he represents was not informed of a labour-management dispute, and continued to work for a week after the work stoppage began. Participants also noted that it is difficult for unions to organize home-based workers who are not union members.

Participants indicated that some employers may use home-based work as a premature and overly-aggressive return to work strategy that may negatively affect the rehabilitation of injured workers. Participants also reported that unions are concerned about employers who offer disabled workers early retirement packages that include the opportunity to create home-based businesses to which the employer will sub-contract work.

## 4.4 Home-Based Workers

#### Questionnaire

Twenty-two (22) persons with disabilities who worked at home completed a questionnaire prior to attending a focus group or interview in December 2000 or January 2001. The answers provided by one person who did not subsequently attend a focus group meeting or interview have been omitted so that the findings of the questionnaire and focus groups/interviews correspond to the 21 people who participated in both.

## Gender and Age

Twelve of the 21 persons who participated in a focus group meeting or interview were women and nine were men. Most were between 35 and 54 years of age.

# Ethnicity and Language

Three participants self-identified as Aboriginal persons, two were members of visible minority groups, and six reported that English was not their first language.

# Disability

Approximately two-thirds of the participants reported that they experienced physical/mobility disabilities. Six participants had visual disabilities. Nine reported medical conditions such as multiple sclerosis, diabetes, fibromyalgia, arthritis or post-polio syndrome. Other participants reported disabilities related to learning, mental health and environmental sensitivities. Seven indicated that they had multiple disabilities. None reported hearing disabilities. Four participants reported that their disabilities were the result of workplace injuries.

#### Education

Sixty-five percent of the study participants had university degrees. Most others were college graduates or had attended some university. Only one participant did not have any post-secondary education, and that person was a high school graduate.

## Family Status

Approximately 40 percent of the home-based workers were married or living common-law and approximately 40 percent were single. The remainder reported their marital status as divorced or widowed. Six of the 21 study participants reported that they had children under the age of 18 living with them.

## Occupation

The participants worked in a wide variety of jobs, from managers and professionals to casual or contract workers. One-third of the participants were involved in some kind of research work, from coordinating major studies to doing telephone interviews for surveys. Other participants were project coordinators, counsellors, social workers, interpreters, translators, church workers, desktop publishers, engineering technologists and program officers. Others worked in accounting, banking and building maintenance.

Approximately one-third of the participants had worked for their current employers for less than a year, one-third for 1-10 years and one-third for more than ten years.

#### Income

Participants reported a wide range of employment incomes, from less than \$10,000 a year to more than \$50,000. Approximately half earned between \$20,000 and \$40,000 a year. Most of the persons who reported incomes under \$20,000 were doing part-time, casual or contract work, or were not working at the time they completed the questionnaire. One-third of the participants reported that they received income from a government assistance or insurance plan.

## Work Arrangement

Approximately one-third of the participants worked at home all the time. One-third worked at home 11-20 days a month and worked the other days at an employer's workplace. The other one-third did most of their work at the employer's workplace, and worked at home fewer than 10 days a month.

Approximately one-third of the participants had less than one year of experience working at home. Half had worked at home for 1-5 years and 20 percent had worked at home for 6-10 years. Most worked for employers with fewer than 20 or more than 100 employees. Approximately one-third had worked for their current employer for less than one year, one-third for one to ten years, and another third for more than ten years.

The vast majority of participants were employees, but a few self-employed independent contractors were included because their working arrangements and conditions were very similar to paid employees (e.g. they did not have multiple contracts).

# 4.5 Focus Groups and Interviews

During December 2000 and January 2001, four focus group meetings were held with persons with disabilities who worked at home. The size of these focus groups varied from three to six participants. Three participants were interviewed individually. In total, 21 people participated in this part of the study.

# Question One: What is the main reason you work at home?

Most participants indicated multiple reasons for working at home. Some proposed working at home while already working for an employer, typically to accommodate a new or exacerbated disability. Some proposed it during negotiations with prospective employers. In a few cases, employers suggested it, either as a possible way of accommodating the employee's disability or as part of a broader organizational telecommuting program.

The reasons participants reported for working at home often related to employers' workplaces that were not fully accessible. The most common

accessibility issues concerned assistive technology that employers were unable or chose not to provide in their office workplaces. The most common examples were computer software/hardware that was expensive and/or required a more powerful computer than was available at the employer's workplace.

One participant began working at home because her employer's former location was not physically accessible. She reported that she continues to work at home partly because she has better access to attendant care at home. On days that she has to go to her employer's workplace, she usually has to ask co-workers to assist her with personal needs.

...at home, I just pick up the phone whenever I need the help, and my orderlies are there...I'm at home, and at least I feel safe there, you know, because there I have the people that I need to get help from. So that's important.

One participant indicated that one of her most effective pain management strategies is simple to provide in her home, but would be difficult for her employer to provide in the office setting. Another reported that there was no place for him to lie down and rest at his employer's workplace.

Some participants reported that they worked at home because previous employers had not accommodated them satisfactorily when they disclosed their disabilities and/or requested accommodation. They utilize home-based work as a strategy to avoid further humiliation and/or disappointment. One participant with multiple hidden disabilities said she had turned to home-based work because:

...when I have tried to go in the front door and either work without disclosing or work with disclosing, I'm not accommodated in the manner in which I need...I'm patronized and my sense of dignity and self-confidence suffers. So for me, instead of going in the front door...I've gone in the back door and looked for work that I can manipulate and massage to my purposes and my needs without the employer knowing that's what I'm doing.

Participants frequently identified the flexibility to work non-standard hours as a reason for working at home. In most cases, they required this flexibility

to work when they were most productive and rest/sleep when necessary. Fatigue was the most frequently cited reason for requiring this flexibility.

Sometimes, if I slept all day, I was ready to go at eight or nine o'clock at night, and I could spend two or three hours on the computer. So that was really good.

... you sort of work your own hours when you're at your peak. You know, if it's a bad day, you can spend an extra hour in bed and then you're at your peak...

...since I really started feeling the onset of [chronic condition]...I get tired. And if I get tired, I can rest because I find I do get tired often, and I get tired very deeply, but I rebound very quickly...

Others indicated that the side effects of medications contributed to their need to work flexible hours.

Some participants who worked flexible schedules said that their workdays had fixed boundaries (e.g. 7 AM to 8 PM). Others reported that they worked at various times around the clock. Most persons in the latter situation indicated that working in the middle of the night was a way of managing pain that prevented them from sleeping.

I only get [approximately three] hours sleep a night. On the bad nights, some nights I don't sleep at all... I can actually take my mind off my pain by going and putting myself in-depth in my work.

Most participants enjoyed the ability to work outside of standard hours, but this flexibilty resulted in challenges for some participants. These challenges will be discussed in a later section of this report.

Manitoba weather presented challenges to some participants. These were typically persons with mobility disabilities who risked falling and injury when walking on slippery winter surfaces. One person indicated that extreme temperatures exacerbated the pain related to his disability. Working at home reduces his need to go out on cold and hot days.

One participant who worked at home part-time and outside of the home at a different job indicated that working at home allowed him and his

spouse—who also has disability—to take care of their child. Some participants chose jobs that were advertised as being home-based work, or took jobs that had been done at home by the incumbents.

# Question Two: What are the greatest benefits and advantages of working at home?

In addition to the factors they described as the reasons they worked at home, participants listed a host of additional benefits and advantages. In comparison to the reasons they worked at home—which were usually related to disability—many of the additional benefits they reported have also been reported by persons without disabilities who work at home. Many participants commented that they felt more comfortable working at home because of characteristics that distinguish their homes from conventional workplaces.

The familiarity of the work environment is conductive to productivity, it seems to me.

I think, partly because of the [mental health condition], I work a lot better when there's a lot of quiet.

Some participants reported that an advantage of working at home is freedom from the distractions and politics that exist in many workplaces.

I work so much better at home. I get so much more done because of the lack of interruptions that it would not be my choice to go back to working in the office on a full-time basis.

...I found that a lot of people are unproductive at work in the work environment. If it's a bad day, people sit around, spend a lot of time gossiping. And, you know, I just don't have a lot of time for that because I'm not really interested. [laughs] So you stay away from that environment, and I find that the time that you do work is pretty much all productive time...

I don't have to deal with the office politics day in and day out, only once a week when I go in there.

Some participants reported a resulting increase in productivity.

What I've really noticed...when I'm working out of the main office...is that I'm not nearly as productive. So working at home...is a lot more productive than working in the main office. So that's the main benefit for me.

Others welcomed the freedom from unproductive and/or stressful time spent traveling to and from work. Others noted that they saved money by not having to wear dress clothes to work, buy lunches or pay bus fare or parking. One participant reported that he regarded flexibility to care for his spouse—who also has a disability—as a benefit of working at home.

My [spouse] also has a disability—she has [chronic condition] very bad—and she has good days and bad days...When she has a bad day and she can't work...I can be home with her and help her with whatever she needs. So, from that point of view, working from home is very beneficial for me as well.

Some participants who had done short-term contract work from home indicated that they liked the flexibility this combination provided.

... because I've worked for many years doing contract work and working by myself... I don't think I'd want to work in an office...

Some participants reported that working at home allowed them to remain productive during periods when their disabilities would have prevented them from going to their employers' workplaces.

Sometimes I have problems with my skin where I have to completely stay off of my [wheelchair]. And if I have to stay off of my chair, I'm off for sometimes three days to one week. So those are the times when the books are piled on my bed and I'm reading [laughs]. Still planning something to do, still writing in bed, still finding one way or another to at least get some work done without having to lie there and wonder what's going on at the office...

# Question Three: Have you experienced any challenges or disadvantages working at home?

Setting Up the Arrangement

Some participants reported that they experienced some resistance from their employers when they proposed that they do some or all of their work from home.

I said "I could work as much as possible at the office, but there are times when my [disability] gives me problems that I can't come into the office, and if there's a way to work from home, I will do it." At first, it was like "it [working at home] is not done in [name of employer], nobody works from home."

One participant who negotiated working at home with a new employer described how she addressed this issue during the interview.

In my own mind I had already anticipated what might be some of the issues around [working at home]. What I did was look at resolutions to these anticipated problems, so that I would have answers at the ready if there would be any questions about what would happen...I think [employer] was really pleased that somebody had thought about these things ahead of time.

Most participants did not have formal written agreements stipulating the terms and conditions of the arrangement. Those who did have formal agreements worked in large organizations with unionized workforces. (Note, however, that some of the participants who did not have formal agreements also worked for large organizations with unionized workforces.)

Other challenges to setting up a successful home-based work arrangement included:

- Persons with disabilities who are unemployed and/or receiving income assistance may not have the confidence and self-esteem required to request and negotiate a home-based work arrangement.
- Some home-based workers are reluctant to ask their employers to provide or pay for equipment or services used to work from home.
- Some employers are resistant to home-based work.

## Working at Home and at Employer's Workplace

Some participants who split their time between their employers' workplaces and home indicated that this provided a positive mix of social interaction (with colleagues, consumers or customers) and uninterrupted time for tasks like reading, writing and research. Others indicated that working at two locations can be more challenging than working at home exclusively. For example, co-workers need to be advised more frequently about one's schedule and location.

One participant who worked at home and at her employer's workplace reported that when she telephoned customers from home, she didn't reveal that she was working at home. This sometimes led to problems, because customers would sometimes drop into the office later, only to discover that she was not there.

#### Isolation

Some participants reported that they sometimes experienced feelings of isolation working at home.

You can become isolated. Sometimes you get too much time to yourself. It can be—it can spiral you down, especially in the winter time.

A person who does self-employed contract work indicated that she sometimes feels isolated, and suggested that persons who work for employers have a network of co-workers and may be less susceptible to feelings of isolation. In general, however, relatively few participants indicated that they experienced major feelings of isolation. In fact, some reported that the solitude afforded by working at home was a good match for the requirements of their jobs.

I don't find it particularly isolating working at home, because when I'm working at home I'm so darn busy I don't even have time to think about [laughs] whether I feel isolated or not, because usually I've got too darn much to do. If I need to hook in with somebody, I just do it, either through e-mail or phone or whatever. But that's because I'm working for an employer where there's other—we have had other

people in this office who have done some work at home...But I think if you sort of feel like you're the one and only, it can get very, it probably can get very lonely.

The fact that most participants did not work exclusively at home may also alleviate isolation that exclusively home-based workers may be more likely to experience.

## Co-workers and Supervisors

Although relatively few participants indicated that they experienced major feelings of isolation, a frequent theme concerned the effect working at home has on one's connection to the organization, and on relationships with co-workers and supervisors.

...I knew what I needed to do to do my job. I didn't know who was cheating on their husband [laughing] and I didn't know who was pregnant all the time, but that's stuff that you learn in the lunchroom that's really isn't essential to your job. It's one of those things where I knew the important stuff because I was involved in all the staff meetings, but there is a different feeling and there's no doubt about it...the important stuff I knew, but it was differently a different relationship.

...losing touch with staff and what is happening in the office is definitely a negative.

Sometimes it was annoying, because people would come into your office and they want to chat, but then you're busy and you really don't want to get into this, and you're concentrating on your work and they're sort of spoiling your train of thoughts and you can't tell them "listen, I'm busy, get out of here." So in that way, it's sort of easy, but it's very important not to lose that contact with people and I think you could lose it easily without even realizing it. That's one thing that I made a conscious effort as not cutting myself off.

Several participants who have home-based co-workers indicated that they communicate frequently.

...we have each others' phone numbers, so when we're running into a problem area, we phone each other and—I think the word is *commiserate* together.

One reported that he keeps up on informal information by communicating with a co-worker he used to work with in the office.

One participant who manages other teleworkers said that in an office setting, colleagues may notice signs of declining health in a co-worker with a disability. The reduced visibility of home-based workers may be risky for persons with disabilities whose health declines.

Some participants indicated that they felt well supported by their coworkers, but several told of co-workers who were insensitive to the participants' reasons for working at home. One reported that some of his colleagues expected him to complete projects on short notice even when he was experiencing disability-related problems that prevented him from working.

Sometimes some people in the office don't understand. We do have a couple of those that don't understand my situation. Even though they've been there for a while, they just can't get it through their thick skulls that I need to do this... They push, they want their thing, their product ASAP. And if you're sick, it's not an excuse. There are [people in the organization] that are like that... They tend to forget because—the way I work at the office, it doesn't look like I have a disability, even though I have my [assistive technology] and all that. To them, I don't really have a disability.

Some participants felt that some of their co-workers resented their ability to work at home.

I think I had the sense—when I first started working at home—that there was some resentment from the staff. That may have been imagined, I don't know. [Facilitator asks: "Resentment around...?"] Just the flexibility in my position. Well, I don't know that they [coworkers] ever requested it, but they were not working from home, so maybe they were seeing that as sort of special arrangements.

One participant felt that having co-workers already working at home minimized resentment from office-based co-workers.

I found it really hard at the beginning, but luckily, other people—men and women—who had children at home were already working at home environments. So I was lucky that way.

She indicated that her manager was also helpful in addressing co-worker resentment.

[He said to co-workers] "I'll tell you what: if you want to work at home, you come up with an arrangement that will make you do your job better, and we'll consider it..." But also a couple of times he said, "Would you like to have [disability] or would you like to be [laughs] in good health like you are?" A lot of them, you know, the ones that were kind of simple minded, then they didn't think that way anymore.

One participant who is one of the most senior employees on his team indicated that he did not sense that co-workers had any jealousy about him working at home. He did suggest, however, that "there could have been some noses out of joint" if he had been a younger employee who worked at home.

#### Communication

Participants in most focus groups indicated that they have less access to informal communications than they would have if they worked in the same location as their co-workers.

Things like somebody getting a promotion at the end of the day. At 4:00 the doors would close, they'd pull everybody together and say "so and so is going on to a new job". Obviously, nobody ever thought to phone me for that. But you know what? I wouldn't have thought to phone anybody for that either, because you just, you know, getting in the moment and you'd go and you forget that there's a person who's at home that doesn't know about this. I found out about it eventually, but there's always that spirit of excitement of new things happening... I wasn't always thought of, but I couldn't expect to be, you know. It's just one of those things you have to stomach.

A participant reported that his workplace has occasionally neglected to advise him that a meeting he is attending has been cancelled or postponed.

...occasionally, I will miss communications. Not very often, but it does happen, where there might be a meeting, or something's been cancelled or changed...People mostly remember to e-mail me or phone me, but the rare occasions when it happens, you know, I have come in for a meeting that's been cancelled...So that can be a disadvantage sometimes, in that you don't hear absolutely everything, because you're not on site.

Some participants emphasized that it is important for home-based workers to advise co-workers when they will be working at home, when they will be in the office, and when they will be working elsewhere. A participant who is part of a team of persons who spend varying amounts of time at home and at their employer's workplace reported that problems sometimes arise when some colleagues don't advise other team members where they are going to be working each day.

A participant with a visual disability indicated that it is important for coworkers to understand that he requires print and electronic documents in formats that are compatible with the assistive technology he uses.

# Meetings

Most participants reported that they physically attend meetings at their employer's workplace. Others indicated that they participate in meetings by telephone. Interestingly, however, some home-based workers (and their employers) who experienced difficulty traveling to attend meetings had not considered conference calls as a solution.

One participant's organization had recently begun to utilize videoconferencing technology, but had encountered barriers related to the technology's requirements for powerful computers and high-speed Internet connections. Another participant reported that his organization is also considering obtaining this technology.

One participant said that it is important to have regular meetings with all team members, including conference calls. Group scheduling software can

simplify the process of finding a date and time suitable to all members of the team.

## Supervision/Performance Management

Many participants indicated that they work relatively independently and have minimal contact with supervisors. One participant indicated that his computer activity can be observed by his supervisor over the employer's network. Another said that her co-workers had all received pay raises following recent performance evaluations, but she had not. Several participants had supervisors who worked in a different city. One indicated that this was a challenge, that they "always seemed to be passing like ships in the night, never quite being able to connect".

## Professional Development

There was relatively little discussion about the impact of working at home on professional development. Approximately half of the participants worked for small non-profit organizations that often have limited budgets for professional development. One participant indicated that some training events are held in locations where the distance from the parking lot to the facility challenges his physical capabilities. Some participants reported that they trained co-workers in their homes, countering the belief that homebased employees have limited opportunities to orient and train co-workers.

#### Career Advancement

As with professional development, there was very limited discussion on this topic. Some participants felt there wasn't potential for career advancement within their current organizations. Others had only recently started their jobs, and hadn't begun to consider career advancement opportunities.

More than half of the participants were over 45 years of age, and only three were under 35. One of the older participants indicated that career advancement is not a great concern for him because "my career, as such, is finished."

A few persons who indicated that their careers had not been progressing later attributed their lack of progression to the nature of the job rather than home-based work. One person indicated that her career advancement

opportunities had been "smashed," but as the result of down-sizing, illness and discrimination, not because she worked at home.

## Maintaining Healthy Boundaries

Some participants—particularly those who worked flexible hours—described challenges maintaining the boundaries between their work and non-work lives. Overwork was a frequently-discussed theme.

One of the problems with me—and I think this goes hand in hand with the type of disability I've got—is that it's not always easy for me to walk away from the work. When you're in an office, if you work 9:00 to 5:00 or 8:00 to 4:00, at quitting time, it's quitting time, and you can walk away.

A participant who does not have a separate telephone or e-mail address for work indicated that can make it.difficult for her to ignore work during evenings and weekends.

I've got one e-mail and one phone line, and it's sometimes difficult to turn it [work] off. Like, if I go to check my e-mail on the weekend, I get work messages [laughing] and then I have to make a conscious decision: am I going to take two seconds to answer this, or am I just going to ignore it?

Several participants described strategies for enforcing the boundary between work and non-work. These strategies included asking co-workers to communicate with them via e-mail, which minimized disruptions while they were resting and allowed them to respond outside of 8 to 5 hours. Others used voice mail to allow them to respond to messages when they were most able to.

Participants reported that they sometimes worked—or felt they should be working—when they were ill. One participant reported that he felt obligated to prove that he could be productive working at home. As a result, he sometimes worked over 12 hours a day when he initially began working at home. This led to conflict with his wife and children.

I wanted to prove to myself that I could do this, that I could work from home, that I could prove this to my employer... Now [employer] knows

I can do the work...So I have been...spending time with my kids. But for a while there, we were having problems, my wife and I. She was always getting mad. "Why are you working so much, why...?" You'd get the questions from the kids. "Why Dad can't you spend time with me?" I just wanted to prove myself, and I have proved myself. I still work a lot, don't get me wrong. I still put a lot of work in.

Several participants with teenaged children reported that they had established guidelines for when it was and was not appropriate for their children to interrupt them while they were working.

She's old enough now that if I say "You know what? I've got to spend the next three hours doing this," she would say "okay" and she would leave me alone...But I can see how it would be a difficulty for people with young children.

Several people indicated that they have had to enforce the boundary between their work and family or social lives when friends or relatives expect them to have flexibility to engage in non-work activities (e.g. babysit) during their normal working hours.

...I find that people don't recognize a home office unless you make it defined as a home office. People still call you in the afternoon and ask if you want to change your long distance service, and people will knock at the door trying to do something. I had... it wasn't just friends or family, I mean strangers. So you really have to make it an office at home. I put a sign up on my door "not available from three to six o'clock," number one, if I was sleeping and I didn't want the doorbell going off. Also, I wouldn't answer the telephone during that time, so I think we really have to define an office at home as a respected space and we can only do that, we can't expect other people to do that. It's up to us to do that.

# Office Space

Most participants had dedicated home offices, usually in spare bedrooms. Others worked in spaces used for other purposes, including living rooms, dining rooms, kitchens and bedrooms. Participants with separate home offices tended to be more satisfied with their home work environments than persons who worked in rooms used by other family members and/or for

other purposes. One participant who works with files that contain confidential information described the inconvenience of not having a separate office.

I basically use the dining room table...So if somebody comes over for a visit, well then I have to clear everything away, which is a bit of a hassle.

Some participants who had extensive experience working at home reported that new home-based workers often choose the smallest or least-desirable room in the house for their home office. They argued that this is not a good idea, e.g. basements have poor lighting, and are often cold and damp. Participants also warned against working and sleeping in the same bedroom. Participants also stressed the importance of windows and natural light. Others talked about the enjoyment of being able to hear sounds of nature while they work.

One participant described some of the tactics she used to make her spare bedroom seem like a true workspace:

You have to, I think, have the space as appealing as possible. I've got my little signs up for my designations that I've got...So I've tried to set up like my office was so that it makes me feel like I'm working too. I've got my little name tags and stuff around that I would have for work, just to remind me that when I walk in here, this is work.

One participant who sometimes had meetings with co-workers in his home indicated that working at home requires him to keep his home neater and cleaner than when he did not work at home.

Technology and Telecommunications

All participants indicated that they used a telephone to do their work. Most also used computers, faxes, e-mail, and the Internet. Participants indicated that they use the following assistive technology:

- · One-handed keyboard
- Large keyboard
- Voice recognition/activation software
- Screen reader

- · Large monitor
- Scanner
- Palm Pilot
- Brailler

Some had separate telephone lines for their work telephones, faxes and/or Internet connections. Others used their residential phones, faxes and Internet connections. One participant indicated that he uses a cellular phone. Several participants reported that their employer's telephone system could forward calls to their homes. One participant even reported that he could dial into his employer's telephone system from home, and make long distance calls on the organization's account.

Most were relatively satisfied with the technology they had, but some indicated that their computers were inadequate. One who did not own a computer felt that he would have greater opportunities to do more work at home if he did have one.

Most participants indicated that their employers provided or reimbursed them for work-related supplies and long distance charges. However, most employers did not provide computers, printers or fax machines. Most participants paid for their own equipment from their own pockets. A few received equipment or financial assistance from external sources. Most of the minority of participants who indicated that their employers supplied at least some of their computer hardware or software worked for large organizations.

Most employers also did not provide separate telephone lines for work-related calls, faxes and Internet usage. Most participants used their residential phone for work. As a result, some indicated that they sometimes missed personal calls or faced challenges avoiding work-related communications outside of their usual work hours.

## Technical Support

Only a few participants reported that their employers provided technical support for the equipment they use to work at home. These tended to be persons working for large organizations with Information Technology specialists. Most participants who used computers indicated that they had

to solve their own technical problems. A few indicated that they paid external service providers for technical assistance.

## Confidentiality/Security

Participants who had names of clients, customers, or consumers at home reported that they kept this information secure from other family members and/or visitors. One had a paper shredder in her home for destroying confidential information. One reported that he was reluctant to have confidential information in his home.

Computer users who were connected to their employers' networks reported that they took precautions to prevent compromising the system integrity. A participant whose computer was provided by her employer said that a password prevents unauthorized persons from gaining access to her data. One participant said that she had to take greater precautions to protect confidential information when she was working at her employer's office than when she was working at home. Some participants reported that coworkers sometimes came to their homes for meetings or training. They indicated that they knew the persons who came to their homes, and did not feel they were risking their personal security.

# Transmission/Transportation of Materials

Persons who work at home and at their employer's workplace either need to maintain two sets of files, or transport files and other work materials between the two locations. One participant who transports materials between her employer's workplace and her home said that she picks up and delivers materials herself several times a month when she has to go to the office for meetings. In between, a courier brings work to her home and picks up materials that need to be delivered to her employer.

Hauling stuff back and forth is a bit of a problem, I've got to tell you. Especially paper, which is very, very heavy.

One participant who works with large documents indicated that his employer's e-mail system will not accept large electronic file attachments, which is a barrier to collaborating with co-workers via e-mail. As a result, he must save large files to portable media, then have a courier pick up and deliver them to his colleagues.

#### Unions

Two participants commented that unions had some resistance to homebased work. One indicated that her union has recently become less resistant.

When telework was first mentioned as a possibility...the union was not in favour of it to begin with, but they have since come to find that this is actually—as far as accommodating people's personal lives—it's actually much more, a much better situation...It was an untried practice...I think they thought that the employer might take advantage of that and expect people to work longer hours that what the contract called for, and so forth...It now is, not only is it well-tried, it's right across Canada and people are scrambling to get it.

One participant who felt that his productivity was about 60 per cent of a person without a disability said that he should be able to do unpaid overtime to make up for the productivity shortfall. Unions, he said, insist on strict working hours and paid overtime.

## Other Challenges

A participant who split her time between her home and her employer's office indicated that not being able to go to the office on short notice was a challenge.

...one of the disadvantages that I have is I cannot leave my home on a spur of the moment...if there's an emergency with one of the consumers that I work with on a daily basis, and something comes up on the spur of the moment, especially at this time of year [winter].

A participant reported that he sometimes feels guilty about being able to work at home.

# Question Four: Is there anything about your current work arrangement you would like to change?

Because of time constraints, this question was omitted at two of the focus group meetings. Despite the lengthy list of challenges participants

described earlier, this question did not result in extensive discussions when it was asked at the other meetings. The most commonly desired changes addressed conflict with others in the workplace. Some participants said they would like to have a different boss or pursue strategies to reduce conflict with their supervisors or co-workers. One commented that she has little ability to change these things.

What would I like to change? Some of the co-workers in there. Sometimes when you go in there, you could cut the air with a knife, because I think they're feeling pressure too from the boss. What would I like to change? I guess, really, things that just—I don't know. I know I can't change anything, so I just—the things that I'd like to change, I can't, so I know it's not realistic to be thinking about it.

Some participants would like to be able to connect to their employers' computer networks from their homes. One wanted her manager to visit her home so that he/she would have a better appreciation of how the participant worked at home. Another who did most of her work alone expressed a desire for more opportunities for teamwork.

# Question Five: Based on your successes, what do you think others can use as models for working at home?

Participants suggested the following as best practices that would help other persons with disabilities who are interested in working at home.<sup>20</sup>

# Self-Discipline

Participants in most focus group meetings reported that a successful homebased worker requires considerable self-discipline. During the discussion of best practices, one group had an extended discussion of this issue.

You have to be careful, because it probably is not an arrangement that can be successful for everyone. As sure as there are people in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> This report's companion handbook *Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities* provides more detail about best practices for persons with disabilities who are interested in working at home. It also provides additional best practices for employers, service agencies, consumer organizations, unions and policy makers.

the office who sort of slack off, there's going to people who work from home that slack off.

Two of the participants in that group suggested that tools be developed to help persons with disabilities and employers assess individuals and jobs for their suitability for home-based work.

## Setting up the Arrangement

Some participants said that persons who want to work at home should be prepared to address the concerns of an employer who may be hesitant about granting the request. Prospective home-based workers should also talk to others who already work at home.

## Scheduling

Some participants worked structured schedules similar to colleagues that worked at their employers' offices. Other participants worked various times around the clock and/or seven days a week. Most participants' work schedules fell between these extremes. During its discussion of best practices, a group which included a person with very structured work schedule explored the relative merits of structure and flexibility. One participant suggested that the other participant's structured schedule was a best practice that could minimize some of the challenges that home-based workers may experience. However, in her next sentence, she added that she would be reluctant to give up the flexibility of her less-structured arrangement. Another participant in that meeting also indicated that she could not work an extremely structured schedule.

#### Communication

Participants indicated that it is important to stay connected with colleagues at the office.

Be careful not to [cut yourself off], because I think getting cut off and isolated could sort of creep in, and all of a sudden you realize that no one knows you, you know nobody, and no one cares.

...keep up as much contact as you can with the boss and the coworkers. Don't become too detached from them because they might interpret it as you don't want to bother with them. I think, just to maintain office contact as much as possible, it's very important, even if you don't like the people or don't want to bother with them I think, like, you have to keep up appearances.

Some participants said that home-based workers should take advantage of the forwarding and voice mail features of telephone systems (e.g. to forward calls from office to home, use voice-mail to respond when able to). Others said employers should use conference calls to include home-based employees in meetings.

One participant said that it is useful to have a supportive co-worker at the office who collects and forwards information that is distributed internally. This is one way of identifying information that is currently not being distributed to the person at working at home. Once identified, a strategy can then be developed to improve communication

Some participants recommended that home-based workers should have formal agreements with their employers, and the terms of the agreement should be clearly communicated to other staff as a strategy to address possible resentment from co-workers who would like to work at home and/or feel that people who work at home create additional work for those in the office.

# Maintaining Boundaries

Participants also reviewed ways of maintaining boundaries between the work and non-work parts of their lives.

I like what [other participant] said, how she set her boundaries by saying to people "between one and three o'clock or whatever, don't call me because..." you know, whatever time she put on it. And I like the fact that she put a note on her door [indicating she is working and does not want to be disturbed]. I think that's really good. I never thought to do that, but that's an excellent thing to do.

# Technology

To avoid compatibility problems, participants said that employers should upgrade home-based workers' computer hardware and software when

office upgrades occur. Participants who work at home and at an employers' workplace described the benefits of remote access software (e.g. PC Anywhere, Reach Out) that allows them to access information on their office computer from their home office computer.

#### Costs

Participants said that persons negotiating a home-based work arrangement should establish at the beginning what costs employer will cover.

## Office Space

Participants felt that a separate room with a door is best. If that is not possible, some participants recommended using the room in the home that is least-used for other purposes. Others argued that working in the least desirable room is not conducive to productivity. Working in a basement is a poor choice because of cold, dampness and lack of natural light.

#### Network of Home-Based Workers

Some participants said that an organized network of home-based workers—with and without disabilities—would be a valuable resource for people who work at home, and people who are interested in working at home.

I think that a network is probably a very productive idea that any new person who's going to be working at home, to have a network of people who would voluntarily speak with him about their experiences. It's a small community of people working at home. It's bigger as the days go on, but it's still a relatively small community in a work force. And I think that anytime I touched upon somebody who worked from home, I'd say "really? Well, what do you do? Do you have a computer? Do you...?" It's an interesting community to be in. So anytime you can share that information, I think it can only help. I think a network would be a good idea.

#### Miscellaneous Comments

Some participants reported that their employers sometimes contacted them for advice when other employees request home-based work arrangements.

Some participants were not aware that they may be entitled to income tax deductions for using their home as their workplace.

Some participants offered opinions about the relative advantages or disadvantages faced by persons who acquire disabilities while employed compared to those who already have disabilities when they are hired. Others discussed the additional challenges faced by persons who have hidden disabilities.

Some participants said that many employers require education about the capabilities of persons with disabilities. Some described past negative experiences attempting to work from home for disability organizations.

#### 4.6 Diaries

Eleven (11) study participants recorded daily diaries for two weeks after attending a focus group meeting or interview.

## Disability Management

During the period that participants were completing their diaries, many reported dealing with illness. The frequency of illness may have been influenced by a variety of factors, including the time of year (late December), the prevalence of colds and flu during this season, or the weather. Whatever the reason, participants who completed diaries spent a total of eight days off work due to illness.

Many participants also reported working even though they were ill. In many cases, the participants mentioned that working at home allowed them to carry out work related tasks in between resting or for short time periods during their illness.

Due to [disability] I haven't felt well. Working at home allowed me to still put in a full day's work.

I was able to rest my eyes for approximately 20 minutes today. I have been having sinus headaches the last couple of days. This I would not have been able to do at the office.

I am still battling a case of influenza so staying home allowed me to work anyway where I doubt I would have gone into the office.

In total, the participants mentioned working in spite of illness on 21 days, as compared to the 8 taken off due to illness. Most felt that this was possible only because they worked from home.

In some cases, having a disability requires people to manage illness differently than for those without disabilities. Often when participants mentioned illness they also discussed the way illness interacted with their disability.

Today was not a great day for me as I had the flu. This effects my disability, because when I am sick, my blood sugar becomes much harder to control. When my blood sugar gets too high, which it did, my vision becomes blurred. When I take a large shot of insulin, to bring down my blood sugar level, it gives me a major headache.

A few participants also mentioned their ability to get to medical appointments during the day that they would be unable to get to if they were confined to working in an office for strict working hours.

Yes - I had a medical appointment at [the] hospital in the afternoon. Working from home allowed me to accommodate this appointment which was from 2:00 - 3:15 p.m.

Due to their disabilities, many of the participants reported that they need to rest regularly or deal with pain on a regular basis. Working at home allowed them to take time for rest and pain management in between working.

My hand was very sore and I was able to take my medication and rest when I needed to.

I didn't sleep very good all night therefore I had the luxury of resting from 3:00 - 5:00 p.m. due to the fact I was at home

I cannot stand and walk for a long period. That's why I always give preference to working from home.

I was able to take breaks in-between to collect my thoughts and deal with my pain.

I was really struggling with pain management today, but I had a lot of work to do, so I did work while soaking in the tub, and sitting in bed with my feet propped up on pillows.

I put the conference call on speakerphone and I was able to lie down for most of the call. This was important because today was not a good day for my diabetes as a result of the flu that I had over the weekend.

Interestingly, some of the participants used their work itself as a sort of pain management, preferring to do work in order to take their minds off their pain. Some also did work when they couldn't sleep because of the pain, an option they had because their offices were in their homes:

As outlined above I had blurred vision and a major headache due to the flu and what being sick does to my blood sugar level. Working at home allowed me to work on the weekend, to catch up as a result of the time I took off.

#### Work Schedules

Participants reported remarkably different work schedules. Some worked relatively regular and predictable hours (e.g. Monday to Friday, 8:00 am to 4:30 pm). Others, however, worked very flexible hours, because of the nature of their jobs (e.g. part-time, casual) and/or as an accommodation for disability. One participant sometimes worked 6-8 hours over an extended period from the morning until late at night some days, with several extended breaks. On other days she would work 2-4 hours in the middle of the day.

Some participants worked very long hours, with the most extreme case being a person who often started work before 6:00 am and was still working late at night. On some days he took frequent coffee and meal breaks, and took time to rest in the middle of the day, but there were five days during the two-week diary period that he worked more than 12 hours.

One participant who worked part-time reported that she spent 30-45 minutes making work-related telephone calls on some of her days off.

#### Challenges and Disadvantages of Working at Home

Overall, most of the study participants reported that they were relatively satisfied with their home-based work arrangement. However, a number of challenges were identified in the diaries. Consistent with the findings of the literature review, key informant focus groups, and home-based worker focus groups, some participants mentioned feeling isolated working from home.

It was a bit isolated—I could have used someone around for an occasional distracting chat just because I wasn't feeling well.

I have no one to commiserate with. I was friendly with previous [employees], however there are three new [employees] I haven't met. The office has great difficulty retaining staff. I miss comparing notes with my co-workers.

In some cases, home-based workers found the transfer of information between home and work to be a challenge.

One of the files that I needed for a client meeting was at the office. I usually have duplicate files for each client, one at home and one at the office. In this case there was only one file and it was at the office. I therefore had to drive to the office, before I went to see the client, as the file was too large to have it faxed or e-mailed to me.

In other cases, teleworkers reported that occasional face-to-face interaction is necessary or preferred.

I needed to talk to one of my staff [today]...I could not get my staff member on the phone, because they were on their phone for an extended time period...If I had also been in the office, I could have walked in and interrupted them. Instead I had to fax, leave a voice message, and e-mail them asking that they call me ASAP.

Part of the reason that I had 109 e-mails to answer today was that I was working from home. If all my staff and I worked from one office,

they could have directly spoken to me, versus sending an e-mail. There were certainly several cases today where face-to-face conversation would have been more efficient than sending e-mails back and forth.

Some participants reported that when they work at home, they experience challenges delegating tasks to subordinates and obtaining office or technical support.

If I had been at the office, I could have delegated some of my work to one of my staff so that my being sick did not effect customer service or work flows. As I was at home, and I did not get really sick until the afternoon, it was not viable to have my staff come to me to get the files and then return back to the office. My duplicate office files were not available to my staff, as my office desk is locked for confidentiality reasons.

I had to send another member of my household out to get supplies needed to finish a job; these might have been more readily accessible in a work place setting. Other than that, the benefits of working at home certainly outweighed those of working elsewhere today.

In some cases, work was interrupted by family or other responsibilities in their homes.

I tried to [get my child to sleep] because my wife was not at home. She was not sleeping. Finally, she fell asleep.

Some participants reported occasional difficulties using couriers for work-related deliveries.

UPS tried to deliver the [telecommunications equipment] but I wasn't home. I told them to send it to the office and I will pick it up Monday or Tuesday.

I had trouble today convincing a courier that I could sign for a [company] document that was not being delivered to a branch or business unit. He did not want to give me the document as he thought it must be addressed wrong. I did however convince him after

he checked with the sender of the document, which was my downtown office.

Some participants occasionally held meetings in their homes. This posed a challenge for some who felt that they had to keep their homes cleaner than they normally would.

I might not have shoveled the walks if I had not had staff coming to see me today. We also had to clean up the house from our New Year's party prior to my staff coming for their performance reviews. Cleaning might have waited until next weekend if I did not use my home to work from.

One of the often-mentioned advantages of telework is the ability of home-based workers to save money on transportation, parking, clothing, and other things. However, when completing his diary, one participant reported spending more money because he worked from home:

It has started to cost more personally to work from home. With the recent substantial increase in natural gas heating costs my December gas bill was over \$100 higher than usual. Some of this additional cost would not have occurred if I did not work from home, as I could have kept the heat lower during the day. My employer does not fund any of my gas or electrical costs so this is a direct increase in non-recoverable expenses to me.

# Benefits/Advantages of Working at Home

One of the many benefits of working from home cited by the participants related to transportation issues. Some discussed problems they have had with Handi-Transit, Winnipeg's para-transit system. One person who had several part-time jobs commented about the transportation difficulties he experienced with one job he traveled to using Handi-Transit.

If I am working from home I would not face this problem [of Handi-Transit being late]. Because, if you miss your ride somehow you have to call a taxi and whatever you earn you have to give this to the taxi on that day.

Others simply referred to the hassles of driving to work, finding and paying for parking, issues which are relevant to teleworkers without disabilities as well.

...I needed to come downtown today. I was reminded how much of a hassle it is to try and park downtown and that "coming and going" is much easier from my home.

As in the questionnaire, focus groups and interviews, many participants identified flexibility as a major reason they worked from home. Home-based work offered them the opportunity to plan their days around their needs, to work more or less than the 'normal' working hours, or to make up for time taken off.

I only planned to work one hour today, but pushed it to two hours. Working from home affords me the luxury of determining how long I work and when I can stop if I don't feel up to it (within reason, of course).

I took some afternoon time to go to a doctor's appointment which I made up by working late. My employer does allow for time off for doctors' appointments which do not have to be made up. I worked late due to deadlines that I was behind on due to my recent [out-of-town] trip. Normally I would not work late or extra time to make up for doctors appointments.

Working from home also allowed the participants to attend to non-work related activities, including medical appointments, family responsibilities and other non-work activities.

I could also prepare food for my family at the same time as I was working.

My wife is suffering from [chronic illness]. She got some fever and cold. I take care of herself and our baby girl because my wife has gone to the rehabilitation centre to see her doctor.

I have a school assignment due next Monday and I needed the afternoon to get to the library and resource centre to do research.

Participants' diary entries often mentioned the difficulties that cold winter weather imposed on them because of their disability, and that working at home allowed them to minimize their exposure.

Wonderful mild weather has set the arthritis in the joints in my legs acting up so I am very grateful I do not have to do a great deal of walking today.

I needed to take that rest in the afternoon. The extreme cold is also a real deterrent to going outdoors because of inflamed joint difficulties, so I spent some time soaking in the tub and reading work-related articles at the same time.

Today the weather was bad and it was very icy. Working at home allowed me the safety and comfort of not having to face it.

Anecdotal reports of the benefits of home-based work often include references to increased productivity. One participant offered their comments on the subject.

I often wonder if I really am getting far more done at home than at the base office until I have a day like today when I accomplished a tremendous amount of output. I am quite sure that I would not have been able to do this much in-house.

# Technology

Some participants used assistive technology in their work. These technologies made it possible for them to work more efficiently and without further exacerbating their disabilities:

As I spent virtually the whole day answering e-mails this resulted in my spending a great amount of time staring at my computer screen. With my vision problem, it is a very good thing that my employer has provided me with a large screen monitor, or I would have ended up with a massive headache. Prior to my having this large monitor I used to get major headaches if I continuously looked at the screen for more than a few hours.

I spent most of the day working on a Power Point presentation. My large screen monitor certainly helped me complete this task in regards to my vision disability.

One of the reasons a few of the participants work at home was the availability of technology. In some cases, employees simply had better equipment at home than in their workplace. In other cases, the employer was not able to provide the technology required to accommodate the participant's disability.

As is the case every day I work at home, I utilized the computer with screen reader and scanner (which are necessary because of my blindness) and the phone and fax to communicate with my office. Because of my disability, I require a screen reader to tell me what is on the screen and a scanner to read print, and both of these needs are accommodated through working at home. [My workplace] does not currently have a screen reader and appropriate scanner software.

However, at times, working from home led to challenges surrounding the use of their technology:

Due to a telephone line problem, my office phone, fax, internet access, and Palm Pilot all stopped working for three hours this morning. Thank god for cell phones!!!!!.

I could not restart the LAN myself, I had to get [head office] to do it!

Some older homes, such as mine, have a limit on the number of incoming telephone lines. In my case, my home has a limit of two lines, including my personal line. The other line and my cell phone are paid for by my employer. This morning my daughter was using the personal line, I was faxing a document on the business line, and explaining the document to the fax recipient on my cell phone. This shut down my internet, for a few minutes, as there were not enough lines to make everything work. As I forgot to save my data prior to the internet shutdown I lost everything when the fax took over the business line.

...the headset doesn't seem to be compatible with my phone and I had to figure it out. It took a long time and still doesn't fit. Very

frustrating as I had no one to help me and a manual was not provided. If I was working at the office, a headset would be there and I wouldn't have this problem.

#### Effect of the Research

Each participant was asked to discuss what effect, if any, recording a daily diary had affected how they thought of their jobs. Although a few felt that keeping a diary did not change the way they felt about their jobs, most felt that it had some impact. Many reflected on the way they schedule their work time, and became more aware of their own work schedules.

I am more conscious of the time I put into a job (as opposed to working until the job is done.); I'm more aware of the times in the day that seem to be most optimum to complete work related tasks—I hadn't really noted these patterns before.

I seem to plan my day better now. Have more free time to rest foot. Gives me a schedule, lets me see how I spend my time, how I can manage my time better

I found it instructive to keep track of work hours, something I have never done before. When I am well I average an eight-hour workday. Therefore, the average of 4.25 work hours for the last ten days probably indicates that my [condition] is flaring.

I always thought everyday was the same, but it looks like there is slight variation in my routine.

In other cases, keeping a diary validated the reasons that these individuals chose to work from home.

I am grateful that [employer] has made telework an option for staff. I am very tired after a day spent answering between 35 and 55 calls...I appreciate not have to drive home. Incidentally, taking these calls while trying to keep up with the normal workload. I find it hard to explain how stressful this can be. Working at home means less interaction with colleagues but that can also be a good thing when it is so busy.

[Keeping a diary] has allowed me to consider the pros and cons of working from home that I really never really thought about before. It has also made me think about all the things that my employer does provide so that I can work from home.

I believe that because of my type of disability with good and bad days, and good and bad seasons, working at home is probably the only practical option I have. The flexibility of home-based work is the main benefit for me, which I indicated throughout the diary.

This survey made it a lot easier to explain to my new boss why I wanted to continue to work from home. All of the information that I provided for this survey are things that I would normally not think about. By doing the survey I was much better prepared to explain to my new boss why I wanted to continue working from home. I probably would have never thought to ask my new boss to come visit my home office if I had not been part of this survey.

Working at home for [employer] is very gratifying. I can work at my speed with little or no interruptions. And [employer] has provided the best in equipment and technology as well as having colleagues who are in the office who are willing to assist in whatever way they can—printing from e-mails such things as urgent letters, etc.

Keeping a diary gave many participants an opportunity for self-reflection, for thinking about their jobs, and for considering their disability in this context:

Keeping a diary means checking your activities/problems faced by you and try your level best to remove those problems. To maintain a diary for my two weeks really helped me a lot. In this way, I maintained the record, what time I start my work, when I finish my work, what problems I faced. Really, I appreciate this step that you give us a chance to check out problems faced by persons with disabilities. This diary really helps me to tell something about myself, my problems, my disability, my work, my activities. I am really happy to have maintained it.

It made me realize how much I do work to get away from the pain.

I did find it interesting to see how the inclement weather affects me as a person with a disability and my job. I also think that on days that I don't get a chance to come home in between appointments, I feel more stressed or tired at the end of the day. Thanks for letting me take part in this project and I hope that I gave you some valuable information on working at home. Have a great holiday!

One person who took part in the research expressed gratitude that the Canadian Centre on Disability Studies was conducting a study of home-based work by persons with disabilities.

The step you are going forward is that you are trying your level best to recognize the feelings/problems of physically handicapped/person with disabilities. I personally and with my family appreciate this step.

On several occasions during the completion of his diary, he requested that CCDS try to arrange a program to offer home-based work to persons with disabilities.

Please after this survey, try to contact those association/companies/factories others who can give work from home to persons with disabilities.

# 4.7 Supervisor Focus Group

Seven of the home-based workers who participated in focus groups consented to allow the researchers to contact the focus group participants' supervisors. Five of their supervisors subsequently attended a focus group meeting in January 2001.

Three of the participants represented governments, one a private sector business, and one a not-for-profit organization. Most of them supervised home-based workers with disabilities who had been office-based employees of their organizations for some time prior to making the move to working at home. Three supervised multiple home-based workers.

# Question One: How did you, your organization, and your employee initially work out the arrangement to work at home?

Most of the employees with disabilities requested the opportunity to work at home as accommodations for increasing disability. Most of these arrangements were negotiated as individual accommodations, but some were arranged within organizations' broader telework programs that allow employees to work at home for a variety of reasons in addition to accommodating disability.

The supervisors reported that most of their employees who participated in the study do most of their work at home, but go to their employers' workplaces for staff meetings and other meetings. One supervisor indicated that the employee's job description changed because he now works at home. Instead of doing a variety of short-term and long-term projects, the employee now works exclusively on long-term projects, primarily to reduce the need to courier work to and from his home.

One supervisor indicated that the organization's management was apprehensive about having an employee working at home, primarily because of a previous unsuccessful home-based work arrangement. The organization wanted the employee to sign a formal contract, but the employee and supervisor negotiated a less formal agreement describing each party's expectations. Most of the other supervisors indicated that they also have informal arrangements rather than formal contracts, primarily because the employees had demonstrated positive work habits and performance before beginning to work at home.

Most of the employers provided the computers and other equipment used by their home-based workers. The others indicated that their employees utilize their own computers, which they owned prior to beginning to work at home. The person representing a not-for-profit organization indicated that the organization would not have been able to provide a computer to the employee that worked at home using her own computer.

In a few instances, supervisors' descriptions of the negotiation of the arrangements did not fully correspond with the descriptions their employees provided.

Question Two: Compared to supervising employees who work onsite, have you encountered any unique challenges supervising an employee who works at home?

#### Communication

Most of the supervisors indicated that it is important to develop the discipline to ensure that home-based workers are included in formal and informal meetings and discussions. Some indicated that it is easy to "forget about" home-based employees. Some include home-based workers in meetings via telephone. One who had not considered this option indicated that he felt it was a good idea. Some supervisors indicated that decisions in their organizations/departments tend to be made in face-to-face discussions, and telephone and e-mail are less satisfactory forms of communication.

Some supervisors indicated that maintaining adequate communication is a joint responsibility of the supervisor and the home-based worker. One reported that the home-based employee she supervises sometimes does not alert the office when he is temporarily unavailable because of disability.

#### Isolation

Several participants indicated that they felt their home-based employees could become isolated. Some who supervise multiple home-based workers reported that they attempt to reduce this risk by encouraging home-based workers to form a "buddy system" or meet occasionally.

## Performance Management

Some of the supervisors indicated that managing persons who work at home wasn't any more difficult than managing employees in the office. Others reported that they had some initial difficulties or had to make adjustments to evaluate the performance of employees who work at home.

I can evaluate the staff who are in the office very easily because I see what they're doing on a very regular basis. I see the assignments come in and go out and so on. It's a lot easier to evaluate them.

One supervisor indicated that he initially monitored his home-based employee's work via the organization's computer network. He said that he felt uncomfortable doing this, and now uses other means of evaluating performance.

#### Co-workers

Some of the supervisors reported that responding to home-based workers' information requests sometimes creates conflicts with the office-based workers who deal with the requests.

We did run into that to some extent, we still do. There are some things people just can't do from home, so they have to ask someone in the office to do it for them. Sometimes that's a little bit of a problem.

#### Couriers

Some of the supervisors indicated that the cost of couriering materials to and from their employees' homes was an issue.

## Professional Development

One supervisor indicated that his employee's disability sometimes prevents him from participating in scheduled training, or can only attend part of multi-day training sessions. The supervisor indicated that he is considering a "train-the-trainer" arrangement where another staff person who attends the training is assigned to subsequently deliver the training to the home-based employee in a flexible manner.

Some supervisors indicated concerns that home-based workers are not exposed to informal learning that occurs in the workplace. They reported that they are considering having regular meetings or occasional retreats specifically to discuss recent informal learning.

#### Accommodations

The supervisors indicated that flexibility and creativity are important to solving accommodation issues. One described a situation where several technical solutions were attempted before finding one that was satisfactory.

Some supervisors who work for large organizations indicated that their organizations have resources dedicated to the funding and/or provision of accommodations for employees with disabilities.

#### Security

Supervisors whose home-based employees are connected to the organizations' networks indicated that network security was an issue. One indicated that this makes Information Technology staff nervous about teleworkers. Another indicated that part of the negotiated telework agreement stipulates how and when the employee will access the network.

#### **Technical Support**

One supervisor indicated that her organization is replacing teleworkers' desktop computers with laptop computers to facilitate sending the computers for servicing, rather than having techical support staff travel to the employees' homes.

Question Three: Based on what you've learned from supervising somebody who has a disability who works at home, what do you think are best practices in home-based employment?

Most of the discussion about best practices indicated that successful home-based work arrangements require "motivated, responsible" employees and flexible supervisors who are committed to "making it work." The participants emphasized the importance of finding ways of including home-based workers in informal meetings, and communicating informal learning to home-based workers.

## 5. DISCUSSION

Some of the experiences and opinions reported by the 21 home-based workers in the previous section provide new information about people with disabilities who work at home. Other findings of our study support the findings of previous research and the key informant focus groups with supervisors, service agencies, consumer organizations, employers and unions. This section highlights and expands on key findings from the study.<sup>21</sup>

#### 5.1 Education

We were startled by the educational achievements of our study participants. Sixty-five percent of them had university degrees. Most others were college graduates or had attended some university. Only one participant—a high school graduate—did not have any post-secondary education. This finding contrasts sharply with Statistics Canada's 1991 Health and Activity Limitation Survey which found that only six percent of Canadians with disabilities of working age were university graduates and 65 percent did not have any post-secondary education (Statistics Canada 1993).

This finding highlights the importance of eliminating barriers to postsecondary education for persons with disabilities. Until those barriers are eliminated, the educational requirements of many jobs suited to homebased work will remain a significant barrier to persons with disabilities who do not have post-secondary education (Price Waterhouse 1994).

## 5.2 Reasons for Working at Home

Some of the home-based workers in our study reported that they worked at home because previous employers had not accommodated them satisfactorily when they disclosed their disabilities and/or requested accommodation. They told us that they utilize home-based work as a strategy to avoid further humiliation and/or disappointment. We found no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Where a finding of this study corresponds to findings of previous research, the previous studies are referenced within the text.

mention of this reason for working at home in our review of previous research.

Some of the home-based workers in our study told us they worked at home to avoid extreme weather conditions that exacerbated pain related to their disabilities or created risks of falling on slippery winter surfaces. Our review of previous research found only one previous study from Ireland that identified weather as a reason some persons with disabilities work at home (Murray and Kenny 1990).

Our review of previous research found that most people without disabilities who choose to do paid employment at home do so for reasons such as: to have greater flexibility to coordinate family/personal life (Ashton and Ashton 1999; McCloskey and Igbaria 1998; Heck, Rowe and Owen 1995), to avoid long commutes (Aschaiek 2000; Johnson 1997) or because their work requires intense concentration and freedom from interruptions (Blake 1999; Treasury Board Secretariat 1996).

Some of the home-based workers with disabilities who participated in this study listed these factors as desirable *benefits* or *advantages* of working at home. When they were asked, however, to describe the specific *reasons* they worked at home, most identified reasons related to disability (Kruse and Hyland 1998). In addition to the reasons listed above, some participants in our study indicated that they worked at home for the flexibility to work when they were most productive and rest when necessary, or to attend medical appointments (Hesse 1995). Others told us that their employers' workplaces were physically inaccessible or lacked assistive technology the workers required (Lilenthal, Goll and Zap 1998; Murray and Kenny 1990). Others explained how working at home provided them with better access to attendant care or pain management strategies that were unavailable or difficult to arrange at their employers' workplaces (Hesse 1995).

Many of the previous studies of persons with disabilities who work at home identified reduced transportation difficulties as an advantage of working at home (TECSO 1998; Lilenthal, Goll and Zapp 1998; Price Waterhouse 1994; Ashok, Hall and Huws 1986). Some of the home-based workers with disabilities in our study noted that working at home reduced their need to travel, either by car or by Winnipeg's Handi-Transit. However, very few of

them identified transportation challenges as the main *reason* they worked at home.

# 5.3 Challenges of Working at Home

Relatively few of the study participants reported that they experienced feelings of isolation. In fact, many told us that they enjoyed the solitude of working at home. The small number who described feeling isolated tended to be persons who worked at home most or all of the time, although other persons who worked at home most or all of the time were also amongst those who reported liking the solitude of working at home. Many previous studies have reported that some people with disabilities who work at home can experience feelings of isolation (Boucher, Oullet and Fourier 1999; Price Waterhouse 1994; Murray and Kenny 1990; Ashok, Hall and Huws 1984). Participants in all three key informant focus groups also described isolation as one of the challenges and risks of working at home. The findings of this study suggest that isolation may be a problem experienced by only a minority of people with disabilities who work at home.

Many of the study participants reported that they experienced personal stress and conflict with family members related to difficulties establishing and maintaining the boundaries between their work and family/personal lives. Some described situations where friends or family members disturbed them while they were working, but the majority of discussion about this topic focused on participants' difficulties keeping their work from intruding on their family or personal time. Some told us they had trouble "walking away" from their work at the end of their workday. Others reported that they sometimes worked—or felt they should be working—when they were ill. One participant told us that he often worked more than 12 hours a day, partly because he wanted to prove to his employer that he could be productive working at home. These findings correspond to previous research on people with and without disabilities who work at home (Brelis 1999; Haddon 1998; Blake 1998; Costello 1998; Hesse 1995; Heck, Rowe and Owen 1995). In particular, these findings remind us of a previous study's warning that "unclear boundaries in conjunction with anxiety over personal acceptance could set [home-based employees with disabilities] up for exploitation and burnout" (Hesse 1995, 422).

None of the home-based workers in our study reported that working at home had affected their career advancement opportunities. This contrasts

with some previous studies that found that some people who work at home feel their career advancement opportunities have been harmed because they work at home (Martin 2000; Blake 1999; Hartman, Stone and Arora 1992). Our finding corresponds with a recent survey (n=466) that found that most Canadians who worked at home felt that working at home had a neutral *or positive* impact on their career opportunities (Ekos Research Associates 2001).

The home-based workers in our study did not raise occupation health and safety as an issue during discussions of the challenges of working at home. This contrasts with the findings of the key informant focus groups: employers and union staff both identified occupational health and safety issues as challenges for people who work at home and their employers. A federal government study also found that some teleworkers and their union representatives expressed concerns about health and safety issues, primarily regarding responsibility for ensuring that teleworkers' home offices were ergonomically sound (Treasury Board Secretariat 1996). Some of our study participants may not have identified health and safety as an issue because they have ergonomically sound home offices. Some participants, however, indicated that they worked at kitchen tables, sitting on their sofas, etc. They may not be aware of the health risks of these kinds of working conditions.

Home-based workers with disabilities in our study reported challenges communicating with co-workers, supervisors and subordinates. This finding corresponds to findings of the key informant focus groups and previous research (Lilenthal, Goll and Zap 1998; Hartman, Stoner and Arora 1992; Ramsower 1985).

Most of the participants in our study paid for their own computers and other equipment and used their residential telephone lines for work. This finding corresponds with previous research that found that most employers do not supply or pay for the equipment and services their teleworkers utilize to do their work (International Telecommuting Association and Council 2000; American Management Association 1999).

# 5.4 Differences Within the Group

The small sample size (21) limits our ability to perform detailed analyses of differences within the group of home-based workers with disabilities who

participated in this study. Nevertheless, there were some notable differences within the group that may explain some of the diversity of experiences described in the findings of the study.

At one extreme were long-term professional or managerial employees of large private and public sector organizations. Most had disabilities when they joined their organizations, but worked in traditional workplaces for many years before beginning to work at home, usually as an accommodation for increasing disability. Most of them worked for organizations with broad telework or flexible work programs, and arranged to work at home within the policies and supports of those programs. Most of their employers also had internal programs or funds to assist in the accommodation of employees with disabilities. All of them had home offices in separate rooms of their houses, and their employers provided the computers, workstations and other equipment and telecommunications services (telephone, fax, Internet services) they required to work at home.

At the other extreme were people who worked at home in part-time, casual or term positions, mostly using the telephone for interviewing, translation or telemarketing. Their employers provided little or none of the equipment they used to work at home. Most did not have separate home offices, so they did their work in their living rooms, kitchens, etc. Some were not paid salaries or benefits, but were paid only for calls they completed.

Many of the participants who didn't belong to either of these two extremes were persons who worked for non-profit organizations, typically organizations that represent or provide services to persons with disabilities. Many had separate offices in their homes, but most of them used their own computers, phones, and other equipment when they worked at home. Many reported that they worked on short-term contracts and experienced periods of unemployment between jobs.

# 6. CONCLUSION

Although many of the study participants reported that they experienced challenges working at home, most liked working at home. Some who described significant challenges indicated that they would prefer to continue working at home even if their employers were willing to accommodate them in the workplace.

Working at home is clearly an attractive option for some persons with disabilities, but it is not a broad solution to the employment barriers encountered by persons with disabilities in Canada or anywhere else. For persons with disabilities who want or need to work at home, home-based work can be an effective way of accommodating disability. It is not, however, a substitute for accommodations in traditional workplaces. Many people with disabilities—just like many people without disabilities—are not interested in working at home. They want and are entitled to access to jobs in traditional workplaces.

Persons with disabilities who want to work at home for reasons unrelated to their disabilities should have the same access to those opportunities as persons without disabilities. Additionally, persons with disabilities should also have additional access to home-based telework if they see working at home as an attractive way of accommodating the disabilities they experience.

# REFERENCES

- American Management Association. 1999. *Telework: AMA Fast-Response Survey*. November 16-19, 1999. Retrieved February 24, 2001 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.amanet.org/research/specials/telework.htm">http://www.amanet.org/research/specials/telework.htm</a>.
- Aschaiek, Sharon. 2000. Telecommuting tales: paving the way to a worker-friendly world. *Toronto Sun*, 25 October. Retrieved November 30, 2000 from the World Wide Web: http://www.elibrary.ca.
- Ashok, Hansa, John Hall, and Ursula Huws. 1986. Home Sweet Work Station: Homeworking and the Employment Needs of People with Severe Disabilities. GLC Equal Opportunities Group, London, UK.
- Ashton, Alison, and Richard Ashton. 1999. Hit or myth? *Home Office Computing*, June, 107-108.
- Bauer, Scott. 2000. With computers, state employees work from home. Nebraska Journal Star, 13 August. Retrieved August 16, 2000 from the World Wide Web: http://www.journalstar.com.
- Berinato, Scott. 2000. Teleworkers bring thorny problems to security's front lines. *ZDNet eWeek*, 17 November. Retrieved November 19, 2000 from <a href="http://www.zdnet.com/eweek">http://www.zdnet.com/eweek</a>.
- Bibby, Andrew. 1996. *Trade unions and telework*. International Trade Secretariat FIET. Retrieved May 31, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.eclipse.co.uk/pens/bibby/fietrpt.html">http://www.eclipse.co.uk/pens/bibby/fietrpt.html</a>.
- Blake, Monica. 1999. Teleworking: The teleworker's perspective. *European Journal of Engineering for Information Society Applications* 1(2). Retrieved August 1, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.nectar.org/journal/02/007.htm">http://www.nectar.org/journal/02/007.htm</a>.
- Borowy, Jan, and Fanny Yuen. 1993. *ILGWU 1993 Homeworkers' Study:*An investigation into wages and working conditions of Chinesespeaking homeworkers in Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Ontario
  District Council of International Ladies' Garment Workers' Union.

- Boucher, Normand, Carl Oullet, and Sylvie Fourier. 1999. *Guide d'implantation du télétravail pour les personnes ayant des incapacities*. Quebec: La Croissée.
- Brelis, Matthew. 1999. Telecommuting takes back seat to office life. National Post, 20 January.
- Bureau of Transportation Statistics, 1992. *Transportation Implications of Telecommuting*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Bureau of Transportation Statistics. Retrieved August 22, 2000 from the World Wide Web: http://www.bts.gov/ntl/DOCS/telecommute.html.
- Canadian Telework Association. http://www.ivc.ca.
- Chamot, Dennis. 1988. Blue-Collar, White-Collar: Homeworker Problems.
  In *The New Era of Home-Based Work: Directions and Policies*, edited by Kathleen E. Christensen, pp. 168-176. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press.
- Christensen, Kathleen E. 1992. Computing the effects of homework:

  Telework in the USA. In From the Double Day to the Endless Day:

  Proceedings from the Conference on Homeworking, edited by Linzi
  Manicom, 7-10. Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.
- Cleaver, Joanne. 2000a. Homeward Bound: Workstyle Trends and Adaptive Technologies. *Home Office Computing*, March, 68-71.
- Cleaver, Joanne. 2000b. Opportunities Abound for Disabled Workers. Home Office Computing, April, 27.
- Coalition for Fair Wages and Working Conditions for Homeworkers. 1992. Six Myths About Homework. In *From the Double Day to the Endless Day: Proceedings from the Conference on Homeworking*, edited by Linzi Manicom, pp. 62-65. Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.
- Costello, Cynthia B. 1988. Clerical Home-Based Work: A Case Study of Work and Family. In *The New Era of Home-Based Work: Directions and Policies*, edited by Kathleen E. Christensen, pp. 135-145. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press.

- Creed, Keltie. 1998. Work Wires: Telecommuting Can Be a Workable Option. *Abilities*, Winter, 30-31.
- Crossan, Gregory. 1999. *Teleworking in Ireland: Providing Equal Opportunities?* Master's thesis, University College, Cork, Ireland.
- Curry, Joanne, William R. Neill, Nicholas Galan, and Linda Harasim. 1998. *The Telelearning Industry: An Overview of Activities and Opportunities in North America*. TeleLearning Network Centres of Excellence. Retrieved July 5, 2000, from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.telelearn.ca/g\_access/news/Tlindustry.html">http://www.telelearn.ca/g\_access/news/Tlindustry.html</a>.
- DELTA (Developing European Learning through Technological Advance).
  1990. Impact Assessment & Forecasts of Information and
  Communications Technologies Applied to Flexible and Distance
  Learning. European Commission. Ref XII/F/DE1715B.
- DTI (UK), and IT World. 1986. Remote Work Units Project for Disabled People: Evaluation Study. London, UK: Department of Trade and Industry.
- Dunham, Kemba J. 2000. Work-at-home situations fall out-of-favor with employers. *Wall Street Journal*, 5 November. Retrieved November 6, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.pioneerplanet.com">http://www.pioneerplanet.com</a>.
- Duxbury, Linda, Christopher Higgins, and Derrick Neufeld. 1998. Telework and the Balance Between Work and Family: Is Telework Part of the Problem or Part of the Solution? In *The Virtual Workplace*, edited by Magid Igbaria and Margaret Tan, pp. 218-255. Hershey, Penn.: Idea Group Publishing.
- Ekos Research Associates. 2001. Canadians and Working From Home: Rethinking the Information Highway 2001. Press release May 18.
- Ekos Research Associates. 1998. Canadians and Telework: The Information Highway and Canadian Communications Household Survey. Press release November 4.

- Employing People with Significant Disabilities to Fill Federal Agency Jobs that can be Performed at Alternate Work Sites, Including the Home. 2000. *U.S. Newswire*, July 26. Retrieved August 1, 2000 from the World Wide Web:

  <a href="http://www.usnewswire.com/topnews/Current\_Releases/0726-147.html">http://www.usnewswire.com/topnews/Current\_Releases/0726-147.html</a>.
- European Telework Online. What is Teleworking? Retrieved February 29, 2000 from the World Wide Web:

  <a href="http://www.eto.org.uk/faq/defn\_tw.htm">http://www.eto.org.uk/faq/defn\_tw.htm</a>.
- Fairweather, N. Ben. 1997. Moral Dilemmas and Issues of Providing Telework for Disabled People. Paper presented at ACM Computer Ethics Conference (CEPE), June 11-13, 1997, Erasmus University, The Netherlands. Published in CEPE 97 Conference Proceedings, pp. 130-141.
- Fawcett, G. 2000. Bringing Down the Barriers: The Labour Market and Women with Disabilities in Ontario. Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development. Retrieved August 20, 2001 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/2000/wd/">http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/2000/wd/</a>.
- Fawcett, G. 1996. Living with Disability in Canada: An Economic Portrait. Hull, Quebec: Human Resources Development Canada (Office for Disability Issues).
- Fels, D.I., P.L. Weiss, and M.A. Talampas. 2000. A case study of videoconferencing in the classroom: A methodology for measuring interactions, behaviors and attitudes. IEA 2000/HFES 2000 Congress. San Diego, 1: 372-375.
- Fichten, Catherine, Maria Barile, and Jennison V. Asunciun. 1999. Learning Technologies: Students With Disabilities in Postsecondary Education. Adaptech Project. Dawson College, Montreal. Retrieved November 27, 2000, from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://olt-bta.hrdc-drhc.gc.ca/download/79160final\_e.pdf">http://olt-bta.hrdc-drhc.gc.ca/download/79160final\_e.pdf</a>
- Galarneau, Diane. 1998. Business and Work Practices. In *Work*Arrangements in the 1990's. Ottawa: Statistics Canada. Cat. No. 71-535-MPB no. 8.

- Goodwyn, Karen Topp. 1997. *Telework: The Ultimate Reasonable Accommodation*. Retrieved March 31, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.mother.com/dfleming/dmfcom06.htm">http://www.mother.com/dfleming/dmfcom06.htm</a>.
- Gordon, Gil E. 1988. Corporate Hiring Practices for Telecommuting Homeworkers. In *The New Era of Home-Based Work: Directions and Policies*, edited by Kathleen E. Christensen, pp. 65-78. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press.
- Grant, Kenneth A. 1985. How practical is teleworking? Canadian Datasystems, August, 25.
- Gray, Mike, Noel Hodson, and Gil Gordon. 1993. *Telework Explained*. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Gurstein, Penny. 1995. Planning for Telework and Home-based
  Employment: A Canadian Survey on Integrating Work into Residential
  Environments. Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation.
- Haddon, Leslie. 1991. *Disability and Telework*. Martlesham, UK: British Telecom Laboratories.
- Haddon, Leslie. 1998. The Experience of Teleworking: A view from the home. In *International Perspectives: From Telecommuting to the Virtual Organization*, edited by Paul J. Jackson and Jos M. Van Der Wielen, pp. 136-143.
- Harreld, Heather. 2000. Homeward Bound: As More Workers Demand Telecommuting Opportunities, Governments Must Rethink Their Theories of the Workplace. Federal Computer Week, 3 April. Retrieved April 27, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.fcw.com/civic/articles/2000/april/civ-telework-04-00.asp">http://www.fcw.com/civic/articles/2000/april/civ-telework-04-00.asp</a>.
- Harris, Bonnie. 2000. Companies Turning Cool to Telecommuting Trend. Los Angeles Times, 28 December.
- Hartman, R.I., C.R. Stoner, and R. Arora. 1992. Developing Successful Organizational Telecommuting Arrangements: Worker Perceptions

- and Managerial Prescriptions. SAM Advanced Management Journal 57: 35-42.
- Heck, Ramona K.Z., Alma J. Owen, and Barbara R. Rowe (eds.) 1995.

  Home-Based Employment and Family Life. Westport, Connecticut:
  Auburn House.
- Heck, Ramona K.Z., Barbara R. Rowe, and Alma J. Owen. 1995. What We Know and Do Not Know about the 'Home' and the 'Work' and the Implications of Both. In *Home-Based Employment and Family Life*, edited by Ramona K.Z. Heck, Alma J. Owen, and Barbara R. Rowe, pp. 193-227. Westport, Connecticut: Auburn House.
- Hesse, Bradford W. 1995. Curb Cuts in the Virtual Community: Telework and Persons with Disabilities. Proceedings of the 28th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 418-425.
- Hesse, Bradford W. 1996. Using Telework to Accommodate the Needs of Employees with Disabilities. *Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce* 6 (4): 327-343.
- Hill, E.J., A.J. Hawkins, and B.C. Miller. 1996. Work and Family in the Virtual Office: Perceived Influences of Mobile Telework. *Family Relations* 45: 293-301.
- Home Office Partnership, The. 1997. Corporate Marketing to Overcome the Barriers Facing Disabled Teleworkers...COMBAT. Cambridge, UK: St. John's Innovation Centre.
- Huws, Ursula. 1997. *Teleworking: Guidelines for good practice*. Brighton, UK: Institute for Employment Studies.
- International Telework Association and Council. 2000. Research results Key Findings. Retrieved November 16, 2000 from the World Wide Web:

  <a href="http://www.telecommute.org/twa2000/research\_results\_key.shtml">http://www.telecommute.org/twa2000/research\_results\_key.shtml</a>.
- Jarrett, James E. 1996a. Questions and Answers About Telecommuting for Persons with Disabilities: A Guide for Employers. Houston, Texas: Institute for Rehabilitation and Research. Retrieved March 31, 2000

- from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.muskie.usm.maine.edu/research/disability/empguide.html">http://www.muskie.usm.maine.edu/research/disability/empguide.html</a>.
- Jarrett, James E. 1996b. Questions and Answers About Telecommuting for Persons with Disabilities: A Guide for People with Disabilities. Houston, Texas: Institute for Rehabilitation and Research. Retrieved March 31, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.muskie.usm.maine.edu/research/disability/pwdguide.html">http://www.muskie.usm.maine.edu/research/disability/pwdguide.html</a>.
- Jarrett, James E. 1996c. *Highlights from the Employer Telecommuting Survey*. Unpublished paper.
- Job-ACCESS Project. Undated (1995?). Introduction to Telework: For Your Information. Government of Canada.
- Job-ACCESS Project. Undated (1995?). Telework Information Guide.
  Government of Canada. [complete resource package which includes Introduction to Telework: For Your Information.]
- Johne, Marjo. 2000. Workplace is wherever the worker has a phone: Teleworking rings true. *Financial Post*, 17 April, E3.
- Johnson, Mike. 1997. *Teleworking...in brief*. Oxford, UK: Butterworth Heinemann.
- Khan, Treena. 1999a. Happiness is home work. Winnipeg Free Press, 17 July, B12-B13.
- Khan, Treena. 199b. Swap the business suit for shorts. *Winnipeg Free Press*, 17 July, A1-A2.
- Kistner, Toni. 2000. Hey, where's the tech? *Net.Worker*, 13 November. Retrieved January 3, 2001 from the World Wide Web:

  <a href="http://www.nwfusion.com/net.worker/columnists/2000/1113kistner.html">http://www.nwfusion.com/net.worker/columnists/2000/1113kistner.html</a>.
- Kleiman, Carol. 2000. Office telecommuting ready to boom. *Winnipeg Free Press*, 13 May: E2.

- Konrad, Rachel. 2000. Employers, workers begin to hang up on telecommuting. *CNET News*, 15 November. Retrieved November 16, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://news.cnet.com/news/0-1007-202-3703118.html">http://news.cnet.com/news/0-1007-202-3703118.html</a>.
- Kraut, Robert E. 1988. Homework: What Is It and Who Does It? In *The New Era of Home-Based Work: Directions and Policies*, edited by Kathleen E. Christensen, pp. 30-48. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press.
- Kruse, D., and M.A. Hyland. 1998. *Telecommuting and home-based work: Differences by disability status (draft)*. Newark, NJ: Rutgers

  University, School of Management and Labor Relations. Unpublished paper.
- Lapointe, F., D. Massé, N. Beaudoin, P. Mabilleau, D. Szlamkowicz, and C. Geoffroy. 1998. *Projet Emploi-ACCÈS: Rapport de recherche*. Montreal: TECSO. Retrieved May 24, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.gladnet.org/infobase/telework/employment/EMPL-ACC.htm">http://www.gladnet.org/infobase/telework/employment/EMPL-ACC.htm</a>.
- Lapointe, F., D. Massé, P. Mabilleau, and N. Beaudoin. 1998a. *JOB-ACCESS Project: Executive Summary*. Montreal: TECSO. Retrieved May 24, 2000 from the World Wide Web:

  <a href="http://www.gladnet.org/infobase/telework/employment/EA-SUMM.htm">http://www.gladnet.org/infobase/telework/employment/EA-SUMM.htm</a>.
- Lapointe, F., D. Massé, P. Mabilleau, and N. Beaudoin. 1998b. Teleworking at Home: Issues to Maintain Persons with Disabilities at Home: A Follow Up. Paper presented at the CSUN Conference, California State University at Northridge, March 1998. Retrieved May 24, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.dinf.org/csun\_98/csun98\_171.htm">http://www.dinf.org/csun\_98/csun98\_171.htm</a>.
- Learning Technologies and People with Disabilities: Annotated Bibliography. Office of Learning Technologies. Retrieved July 13, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://olt-bta.hrdc-drhc.gc.ca/publicat/bibdisab.html">http://olt-bta.hrdc-drhc.gc.ca/publicat/bibdisab.html</a>.

- Lilienthal, T., S. Goll, and M. Zapp. 1998. Teleworking for disabled persons: Opportunities and Risks An Empirical Study. Lecture held at the 6<sup>th</sup> European Congress on Research in Rehabilitation. Berlin.
- Mabilleau, Phillippe, Dale Szlamkowicz, and Danielle Masse. 1997. Job-Access: Teleworking at home and keeping persons with disabilities in the workforce. Paper presented at Second International Workshop on Telework, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, September 2-5, 1997. Retrieved November 9, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.teleworkfoundation.org/amsterdam/b1c.htm">http://www.teleworkfoundation.org/amsterdam/b1c.htm</a>.
- Management Technology Associates. 1993. *Telework and People with Disabilities. UK Department of Trade and Industry.* Retrieved August 9, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.eto.org.uk/twork/dis93a.htm">http://www.eto.org.uk/twork/dis93a.htm</a>.
- Mann, Sandi. 2000. An exploration of the emotional impact of tele-working via computer-mediated communication. *Journal of Managerial Psychology* 15 (7): 668-686.
- Martin, Nicole. 2000. Working at home 'can be unhealthy'. Retrieved December 20, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.telegraph.co.uk">http://www.telegraph.co.uk</a>.
- McCloskey, Donna Weaver, and Magid Igbaria. 1998. A review of the empirical research on telecommuting and directions for future research. In *The Virtual Workplace*, edited by Magid Igbaria and Margaret Tan, pp. 338-358. Hershey, Penn.: Idea Group Publishing.
- McMahon, Gerry. 2000. Teleworking beginning to make its impact. *Irish Times*, 10 July. Retrieved July 14, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.ireland.com">http://www.ireland.com</a>.
- Mercinelli, M., R. Aldrich, L. Alimandi, R. Wynne, K. Cullen, V. Savtschenko, J. Ekberg, L. Leondardis, G. Anogianakis, A. Clarke, S. Worgan, and K. Abraham. 1994. *Policy Recommendations for Supporting Teleworking for People with Disabilities in the European Union*. Retrieved August 15, 2000 from the World Wide Web: http://www.stakes.fi/include/twin.html.

- Midwest Institute for Telecommuting Education. 1999. *Telecommuting: A Work Option for Persons with Disabilities*. Minneapolis.: Midwest Institute for Telecommuting Education. Retrieved March 31, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.mite.org">http://www.mite.org</a>.
- Milpied, Marie-Aude. 1995. Telework for people with disabilities:
  Opportunities, stakes and limits. Paper presented at Second TIDE
  Congress, Paris, France, April 26-28, 1995. Retrieved July 25, 2000
  from the World Wide Web:
  <a href="http://www.gladnet.org/infobase/telework/other/tide-95.htm">http://www.gladnet.org/infobase/telework/other/tide-95.htm</a>.
- Mirchandani, Kiran. 1998. No Longer A Struggle? Teleworkers' reconstruction of the work—non-work boundary. In *International Perspectives: From Telecommuting to the Virtual Organization*, edited by Paul J. Jackson and Jos M. Van Der Wielen.
- Mirchandani, Kiran. 1999. Legitimizing Work: Telework and the Gendered Reification of the Work-Nonwork Dichotomy. *Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology* 36 (1): 87-107.
- Murray, Barbara, and Sean Kenny. 1989. *Telework: A Feasibility Study of Home-Based Telework for People with Physical Disabilities*. National Rehabilitation Board, Dublin, Ireland.
- Murray, Barbara, and Sean Kenny. 1990. Telework as an Employment Option for People with Disabilities. *International Journal of Rehabilitation Research* 13 (3): 205-214. Retrieved May 24, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.di.uoa.gr/speech/hestia/books/issues91/10tel.html">http://www.di.uoa.gr/speech/hestia/books/issues91/10tel.html</a>.
- National Rehabilitation Board. 1989. Teleworking Applications and Potential (TeAPoT): A Feasibility Study of Home-Based and Centre-Based Telework for People with Physical Disabilities. National Rehabilitation Board, Dublin, Ireland.
- National Telecommuting Institute. Undated. Specializing in Homebased Training and Job Placement for Individuals with Disabilities. Boston: NTI. (brochure)

- New Freedom Initiative. 2001. Submitted to the U.S. Congress February 1. Retrieved October 24, 2001 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://usgovinfo.about.com/library/weekly/aa020201b.htm">http://usgovinfo.about.com/library/weekly/aa020201b.htm</a>.
- Nilles, Jack M. 1998. Managing Telework: Strategies for Managing the Virtual Workforce. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- O'Hara, Colleen, and Natasha Haubold. 2000. Telecommuting hits a road block. *Federal Computer Week*, 13 March. Retrieved April 27, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.fcw.com/fcw/articles/2000/0313/fcw-cover-03-13-00.asp">http://www.fcw.com/fcw/articles/2000/0313/fcw-cover-03-13-00.asp</a>.
- Oregon Department of Energy. 1999. *Telecommuting: An Option for Workers with Disabilities*. Retrieved March 31, 2000 from the World Wide Web: http://www.energy.state.or.us/telework/teledis.htm.
- Orser, Barbara, and Mary Foster. 1992. *Home Enterprise: Canadians and Home-Based Work*. National Home-Based Business Project Committee.
- Orser, Barbara, and Ted James. 1992. *Home Business: The New Reality*. National Home-Based Business Project Committee.
- Owen, Alma J., Ramona K.Z. Heck, and Barbara R. Rowe. 1995.

  Harmonizing Family and Work. In *Home-Based Employment and Family Life*, edited by Ramona K.Z. Heck, Alma J. Owen, and Barbara R. Rowe, pp. 1-14. Westport, Connecticut: Auburn House.
- Owen, Alma J., Barbara R. Rowe, and Nancy C. Saltford. 1995. The Changing Environment of Work. In *Home-Based Employment and Family Life*, edited by Ramona K.Z. Heck, Alma J. Owen, and Barbara R. Rowe, pp. 15-39. Westport, Connecticut: Auburn House.
- Pérusse, Dominique. 1998a. Working at home. *Perspectives on Labour and Income*, Summer, 16-23.
- Pérusse, Dominique. 1998b. Home-based entrepreneurs. *Perspectives on Labour and Income*, Autumn, 31-34.

- Pratt, Joanne H. 1984. Home teleworking: A study of its pioneers. Technological Forecasting and Social Change 25: 1-14.
- Price Waterhouse. 1994. Final Report on the Study of Canadians with Disabilities Working at Home. Hull, Quebec: Human Resources Development Canada (Employment Equity Branch).
- Public Service Alliance of Canada. 1993. Go Home...And Stay There? A PSAC Response to Telework in the Federal Public Service. Ottawa: Public Service Alliance of Canada.
- Quigley, David. 1999. Plugged In! Computers let millions of Canadians punch a clock at home. *Edmonton Sun*, 12 December.
- Radtke, J. (ed.). 1999. *Meeting Future Workforce Needs*. Menomie, Wisconsin: University of Wisconsin-Stout, Stout Vocational Rehabilitation Institute.
- Ramsey, Robert D. 1997. How to supervise home workers. Supervision 58. Retrieved November 30, 2000 from the World Wide Web: http://www.elibrary.ca.
- Ramsower, Reagan Mays. 1985. *Telecommuting: The Organizational Effects of Working at Home*. Ann Arbor, Michigan: UMI Research Press.
- Robertson, Ken. 1999. Work Transformation: Planning and Implementing the New Workplace. HNB Publishing.
- Roeher Institute. 1992. On Target? Canada's Employment-Related
  Programs for Persons with Disabilities. North York, Ontario: Roeher
  Institute.
- Ross, D.P. and E.R. Shillington. 1990. An Economic Profile of Persons with Disabilities in Canada. Ottawa: Department of Secretary of State of Canada.
- Shellenbarger, Sue. 1993. Some thrive, but many wilt working at home. Wall Street Journal, 14 December, B1, B6.

- Sibley, Kathleen. 1997. Telecommuting not always best approach. *Computing Canada*, 15 September, 16.
- Siroonian, Jason. 1993. Work Arrangements. Ottawa: Statistics Canada. Cat. No. 71-535, no. 6.
- Statistics Canada. 1998. Work Arrangements in the 1990's. Ottawa: Statistics Canada. Cat. No. 71-535-MPB no. 8.
- Statistics Canada. 1993. Adults with Disabilities: Their Employment and Education Characteristics. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.
- Tapscott, Don. 2000. With no real competition, high-speed internet access in Canada is life in the slow, slow lane. *Globe and Mail*, 29 December. Retrieved January 3, 2001 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://news.globetechnology.com">http://news.globetechnology.com</a>.
- TECSO. 1998. Job-ACCESS Project Recommendations: When Telework Opens Doors. Government of Canada.
- Telecommuting Boosts Health, Productivity. 1998. Toronto Star, 6 April.
- The Potential for Telecommuting. 1981. Business Week, 26 January, 94, 98.
- Toucan Europe, 1998. HYPIT Project: Final Report. Manchester, UK:
  Toucan Europe. Retrieved August 21, 2000 from the World Wide
  Web:
  <a href="http://toucan-europe.co.uk/projects/hypitest/manachiev/kindtel.htm">http://toucan-europe.co.uk/projects/hypitest/manachiev/kindtel.htm</a>.
- Treasury Board Secretariat. 1992. *Telework Pilot Program in the Public Service*. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services.
- Treasury Board Secretariat. 1996. Evaluation of Telework Pilot Policy Highlights. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada.
- Weaver McCloskey, Donna and Magid Igbaria. 1998. A Review of the Empirical Research on Telecommuting and Directions for Future Research. In *The Virtual Workplace*, edited by Magid Igbaria and Margaret Tan, pp. 338-358. Hershey, Penn.: Idea Group Publishing.

- Weiss, Tamar, Deborah Fels, and Jutta Treviranus. 1999. Telework and video-mediated communication: Importance of real-time, interactive communication for workers with disabilities. Paper presented at CSUN Conference, California State University at Northridge, March 1999, Los Angeles. Retrieved May 23, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.dinf.org/csun\_99/session0238.html">http://www.dinf.org/csun\_99/session0238.html</a>.
- Westfall, Ralph D. 1998. The Microeconomics of Remote Work. In *The Virtual Workplace*, edited by Magid Igbaria and Margaret Tan, pp. 256-337. Hershey, Penn.: Idea Group Publishing.
- Williams, Laurel A., Deborah I. Fels, Graham Smith, Jutta Treviranus, and Roy Eagleson. 1997. PEBBLES: Providing education by bringing learning environments to students. *CCS News*. Retrieved December 19, 2000 from the World Wide Web: <a href="http://www.ryerson.ca/~ccsnews/Jan97/pebbles.htm">http://www.ryerson.ca/~ccsnews/Jan97/pebbles.htm</a>.
- Wolk, Martin. 2000. Telecommuting—A security threat? *ZDNet News*, 17 November. Retrieved November 19, 2000 from the World Wide Web: http://www.zdnet.com

#### **Canadian Centre on Disability Studies**

A Study of
Technologically-Supported Home-Based Employment for
Workers with Disabilities

Key Informant Focus Group #1
Disability Consumer Groups and Service Agencies

Tuesday, June 13, 2000, 9:30-11:30 am First Floor Lounge, 11 Evergreen Place, Winnipeg, MB

## **Agenda**

- 1. Welcome
- 2. Introductions
- 3. Purpose of Meeting
- 4. Round Table Discussion
  - Q1. What previous experience have you or your organization had in examining or implementing home-based employment as a work option for persons with disabilities?
  - Q2. What opportunities or advantages does home-based employment offer to persons with disabilities?
  - Q3. What disadvantages, challenges, or risks does home-based employment create for persons with disabilities?
  - Q4. Overall, is home-based employment a suitable work option for many persons with disabilities?
- 5. Adjournment

#### **Canadian Centre on Disability Studies**

A Study of
Technologically-Supported Home-Based Employment for
Workers with Disabilities

Key Informant Focus Group #2 Employers

Friday, June 16, 2000, 9:30-11:30 am First Floor Lounge, 11 Evergreen Place, Winnipeg, MB

#### <u>Agenda</u>

- 1. Welcome
- 2. Introductions
- Purpose of Meeting
- Round Table Discussion
  - Q1. What previous experience have you or your company/organization had in examining or implementing home-based work arrangements?
  - Q2. What opportunities or advantages does home-based employment offer to employers?
  - Q3. What disadvantages, challenges, or risks does home-based employment create for employers?
  - Q4a. Have you or your organization had any experience examining or implementing home-based employment specifically for persons with disabilities?
  - Q4b. Are their any additional issues employers should examine when considering or implementing home-based employment for persons with disabilities?
- 5. Adjournment

## **Canadian Centre on Disability Studies**

A Study of Technologically-Supported Home-Based Employment for Workers with Disabilities

Key Informant Focus Group #3
Unions

Tuesday, October 10, 2000, 2:30 to 4:30 pm Board Room, Union Centre, 275 Broadway

## **Agenda**

- 1. Welcome
- 2. Introductions
- 3. Purpose of Meeting
- 4. Round Table Discussion
  - Q1. What previous experience have you or your union had in examining or participating in the implementation of home-based employment?
  - Q2. What opportunities or advantages does home-based employment offer to employers?
  - Q3. What disadvantages, challenges, or risks does home-based employment create for <u>workers</u>?
  - Q4a. Have you or your union had any experience examining or implementing home-based employment specifically for workers with disabilities?
  - Q4b. Does home-based employment create unique opportunities and/or risks for workers with disabilities?
- 5. Adjournment

# Identifying Best Practices in Technology-Based Employment at Home for Returning or Retaining Workers with Disabilities

#### **QUESTIONNAIRE**

P	A	RT	A:	Demogr	ranhi	e In	formation
ж.		17.		DCILIOE!	Гарші	C 111	

	5 1
Ple	ease place an "X" beside the most appropriate answers.
1.	Are youFemale orMale?
	What is your age? under 25 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65 or older
	What is the highest level of education you have completed?  less than high school high school some community college community college certificate some university completed university degree other (please specify)
_	Marital Status single married/living common law widowed divorced/separated
5.	If you have children living in your home, what are their ages?
	What is the nature of your disability? (check as many as apply)  _ physical/mobility _ cognitive _ learning _ environmental _ speech

developmental
mental health
visual
hearing
medical (diabetes, M.S., etc)
other
7. Was your disability caused by
workplace injury
illness
other
8.Are you an Aboriginal Canadian? yes
no
9. Are you a member of a visible minority group?
yes
no
10. Is English your first language?
yes
no
11.Where do you live?
Winnipeg
Brandon
Rural Manitoba
PART B: Employment Information
12. What type of work do you do?
13. Before taxes, what is your current annual income?  less than \$10,000
\$10,000-19,999
\$20,000-29,999
\$30,000-39,999
\$40,000-49,999
more than \$50,000
14. How many employees work at your company in Manitoba? 2-9
10-19
20-29
30-39

40-49
50-59
100-500
more than 500
15. How long have you worked for your current employer?0-6 months
7-12 months
1-2 years 3-5 years
3-5 years
6-10 years
11-15 years 16-20 years
16-20 years
more than 20 years
16. During an average week, how many days do you work? less than 2
2-4
5 or more
17. From which of the following sources do you receive income? (check as many as apply all from employment some from employment income assistance (government) insurance plan
PART C: Home-Based Work Arrangement
18. On average, how many days per month do you work at home?1-5
6-10
11-15
15-20
always
19. How many days did you work at home last week?
20. How many years have you done home-based work?
21. Since you have worked for you current employer, have you always worked from home yes no
22.How long have you worked from home for this employer? 0-6 months 7-12 months

Final Report of a Study of Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities

	1-2 years 3-5 years 6-10 years 11-15 years 16-20 years more than 20 years  Who suggested your home-work arrangement?
	_ yourself _ employer _ other (please specify)
	What are the main reasons for your working from home (check up to 3)?  transportation accessibility flexible work hours child care employer shortage of office space employer does not have the technology I require other (specify)
	Are any of these reasons related to your disability?  yes no s, please explain
	Do you work the same hours as employees who work at your employer's work site? _yes _no
27. 	Do other employees from your organization work from home? _yes _no _don't know
28.	Is your home-based arrangement an exception?  yes  no  don't know
PAF	RT D: Technology
29. 	Which of the following do you use in your daily work? (check as many as apply)  phone fax computers

Final Report of a Study of Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities

\_\_\_\_ Internet \_\_\_\_ e-mail \_\_\_\_ other \_\_\_\_ 30. What arrangement do you have with your employer regarding the purchase of such equipment? \_\_\_\_ employer supplies \_\_\_\_ employer splits cost \_\_\_\_ you purchase \_\_\_\_ other \_\_\_\_\_ 31. Does your employer provide you with access to technological support for your equipment (i.e. computer support, etc.)? \_\_\_\_ yes \_\_\_\_ no 32. Who pays for the following: Phone line rental? \_\_\_\_ yourself \_\_\_\_ employer shared Long Distance Charges? \_\_\_\_ yourself \_\_\_\_ employer shared Internet connection? \_\_\_\_ yourself \_\_\_ employer shared Fax line? \_\_\_ yourself \_\_\_\_ employer \_\_\_\_ shared Paper, supplies, stamps, etc.? \_\_\_\_ yourself \_\_\_\_ employer \_\_\_ shared 33. Please rate the following in order of importance for use in communicating: E-mail Fax

Final Report of a Study of Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities

Final Report of a Study of Best Practices in the Home-Based Employment of People with Disabilities
Phone Posted mail

#### **Canadian Centre on Disability Studies**

A Study of Technologically-Supported Home-Based Employment for Workers with Disabilities

Focus Group
Home-Based Workers with Disabilities

#### **Agenda**

- 1. Welcome
- 2. Purpose of Meeting
- 3. Introductions
- 4. Round Table Discussion
  - Q1. What is the main reason that you work at home?
  - Q2. What are the greatest benefits or advantages of working at home?
  - Q3. Have you experienced any challenges or disadvantages working at home?
  - Q4. Is there anything about your current work arrangement you would like to change?
  - Q5. Based on your successes, what do you think others can use as models for working at home?
- 5. Adjournment

## **Diary Questions**

Welcome to day 1 of your diary on home-based work! Please take a few minutes to reflect on your day's work activity. You can respond to the following questions by replying to this message and typing your response in the body of the text.

- 1. Please describe any events that you feel were significant during your work day.
- 2. What time did you start and finish work today? (include any interruptions to your day)
- 3. In what ways did you interact with your office/employer's place of work today? (include interactions with supervisor and co-workers, use of technology, etc.)
- 4. Did working at home allow you to accommodate your needs in any particular way today? (include issues related to your disability, caregiving responsibilities, etc.)
- 5. Did working at home present any challenges or barriers to you today?
- 6. Please add any other comments that you feel may be important to this research study.

[At the end of each week, participants were asked an additional question.]

7. How has keeping a diary of your daily activities affected the way you think of your job?

## **Canadian Centre on Disability Studies**

A Study of Technologically-Supported Home-Based Employment for Workers with Disabilities

January 9, 2001
Focus Group
Supervisors of Home-Based Workers with Disabilities

#### <u>Agenda</u>

- A. Purpose of Meeting
- B. Participant Introductions
- C. Roundtable Discussion
- Q1. How did you, your organization, and your employee initially work out the arrangement to work at home?
- Q2. Compared to supervising employees who work on site, have you encountered any unique challenges supervising an employee who works at home?
- Q3. Based on what you've learned from supervising somebody who has a disability who works at home, what do you think are best practices in home-based employment? (What can other organizations and supervisors do to allow more people with disabilities to work at home as successfully as the people you supervise?)